# **CHARLES UNIVERSITY**

## FACULTY OF SOCIAL SCIENCES

Institute of Political Studies Department of Political Science

# **Diploma Thesis**

2023

**Teodor Bartoň** 

# **CHARLES UNIVERSITY**

## FACULTY OF SOCIAL SCIENCES

Institute of Political Studies Department of Political Science

## The Role of Far-Right Pro-State Militias in Democratic State Systems

Diploma Thesis

Author: Bc. Teodor Bartoň Study Program: International Security Studies Thesis Supervisor: Mgr. Martin Laryš, Ph.D. Year of Thesis Defense: 2023

## Declaration

- 1. I declare that I have independently processed the presented thesis and used only the sources and literature specified.
- 2. I declare that the thesis has not been used to obtain another degree.
- 3. I agree that the thesis may be made accessible for study and research purposes.

In Prague, 10<sup>th</sup> July 2023

Teodor Bartoň

## **Bibliographic Record**

Bartoň, Teodor. 2023. *Role of Far-Right Pro-State Militias in Democratic State Systems*.
Prague. Master's Thesis. Charles University, Faculty of Social Sciences, Institute of Political Studies. Department of Security Studies. Supervisor Mgr. Martin Laryš, Ph.D.
99 pages.

**Scope of Work:** ~ 237 198 characters

#### Abstract

This diploma thesis examines the impact of ultra-nationalist pro-state militias with a radical political ideology on the stability and functioning of democratic systems. The observed cases encompass the Ukrainian Azov Battalion and Right Sector, as well as the Croatian Defense Forces (HOS) and the United-Self Defense Forces of Colombia (AUC). Through qualitative analysis and multiple case studies, the research investigates the consequences of these militias' activities, their integration into the state apparatus, and their potential threats to democratic processes. The findings reveal a complex relationship between militias and the state, characterized by ideological differences and simultaneous integration within the political sphere. The study highlights the militias' role in defending the state during civil conflicts, while also noting the gradual loss of autonomy as they collaborate more closely with official military structures. The research emphasizes the significance of popular support garnered by these militias during wartime, yet it highlights the limitations in their political influence within the democratic system. The thesis also introduces the concept of the "Militia-State Ambivalence Nexus" as a framework of understanding the strategies employed by governments to harness militias' capabilities while mitigating potential destabilization. Future research should explore the political wings of these militias and expand the framework's applicability to radicalized armed prostate formations within democratic environments, deepening insights into the implications of such groups in democratic frameworks.

### Abstrakt

Tato diplomová práce se zabývá vlivem ultranacionalistických pro-státních milicí s radikální politickou ideologií na stabilitu a fungování demokratických systémů. Studované případy zahrnují ukrajinský Pluk Azov a Pravý Sektor, stejně jako Chorvatské obranné síly (HOS) a Ozbrojené síly sebeobrany Kolumbie (AUC). Prostřednictvím kvalitativní analýzy a několika případových studií tato práce zkoumá důsledky činnosti tohoto typu milicí, jejich začlenění do státního aparátu a jejich potenciální hrozby pro demokratické procesy. Získané výzkumné údaje odhalují složitý vztah mezi milicí a státem, jenž se projevuje ideologickými rozdíly a zároveň integrací do politické struktury. V práci je zdůrazněna úloha milicí při obraně státu během občanských střetů a současně je zaznamenána postupná ztráta jejich autonomie v důsledku jejich užší spolupráce s oficiálními

vojenskými strukturami. Výzkum zdůrazňuje význam veřejné podpory, kterou tyto milice získávají během války, zároveň však upozorňuje na omezení jejich politického vlivu v rámci demokratického systému. Diplomová práce rovněž zavádí koncept "Militia-State Ambivalence Nexus", který slouží jako rámec pro pochopení strategií používaných vládami k využívání schopností domobrany a zároveň ke zmírnění potenciální destabilizace. Budoucí výzkum by měl blíže prozkoumat politická křídla těchto milicí a rozšířit aplikovatelnost tohoto rámce na radikalizované ozbrojené pro-státní formace v demokratickém prostředí, čímž by se prohloubil vhled do důsledků působení těchto skupin v demokratických strukturách.

## Keywords

militia, conflict, ideology, state, impact, far-right, government, patronage ties, security, integration

## Klíčová slova

milice, konflikt, ideologie, stát, vliv, krajní pravice, vláda, patronátní vazby, bezpečnost, integrace

## Title

The Role of Far-Right Pro-State Militias in Democratic State Systems

## Název Práce

Role krajně pravicových pro-státních milicí v demokratických systémech

### Acknowledgements

I am deeply grateful to my supervisor, Mgr. Martin Laryš, Ph.D., for his invaluable guidance and support throughout my diploma thesis. Dr. Laryš has been an exceptional mentor, demonstrating a remarkable commitment to aid me with my academic research.

I particularly appreciate Dr. Laryš's dedication and willingness to help, providing insightful feedback and constructive criticism that strengthened my thesis from start to finish. His expertise and experience have shaped the direction and quality of my research. Moreover, Dr. Laryš consistently encouraged me to set high standards and pushed me to strive for excellence. This steadfastly motivated me to push the boundaries of my research goals.

I consider myself fortunate to have worked under Dr. Laryš's mentorship, as it enriched my academic journey and instilled a passion for continuous learning and exploration in my area of interest.

Lastly, I would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude to the esteemed department of International Security Studies and all of its dedicated lecturers and the academic leadership board. Their invaluable expertise and willingness to impart their vast scholarly experience, coupled with their exceptionally kind and understanding approach towards students during the challenging circumstances of the past three years, have truly enriched and made my journey in this exceptional program unforgettable. I am immensely grateful for the opportunity to be a part of this remarkable scholarship experience and for the profound impact it has had on my personal and professional growth.

## **Table of Contents**

Introduction	. 3
Literature Review	. 7
Theoretical Framework	13
Pro-Government Militias	13
Militias, Vigilantes, Death Squads, Proxies	14
PGMs, Far-Right and Partly-Free Democracies	17
PGMs and Threats towards Political System	19
The Concept of Militia-State Ambivalence Nexus	22
Methodology	26
Type of Methodology	26
Data	26
Data Collection	27
Data Analysis	28
Conceptualization	29
Empirical Findings	31
Initial Hypotheses and Assumptions	32
Case Selection	33
Areas of Friction and Conflicts with the State – Protests, Crime, Political Violence	36
Patronage Ties – Influential Representatives and Linkage to the Pro-State Militias	44
Security and Integration with State Elements- Maintaining Independence or Losing Autonomy?	52
Ideological Influence, Societal Acceptance and Resilience of the State	52
Discussion	72
Conclusions	77
References	80

### Introduction

In this diploma thesis, I have chosen to undertake a multifaceted piece of academic research that delves into the role of pro-state militias (PSM) within the political system of a state. Although the phenomenon of pro-state militias, which have a significant impact on politics, is a recurring factor in the history of some states, it has not been thoroughly researched in the context of democratic political systems. Therefore, my thesis aims to narrow the focus of research by examining mainly PSMs that are driven by ideological perspectives, particularly nationalism. The research will be centered on far-right paramilitary groups operating within the political and military fields of a state. Moreover, while the main focus of this paper will be on pro-state militias, it will also provide an insight into other groups that fall under the larger framework of pro-government paramilitaries, which also includes the term pro-government militias. It is important for readers to consider that both terms will be used interchangeably throughout this research. The paramount difference lies in the fact that militias tend to be relevant predominantly during conflicts (civil wars), while pertinence of paramilitaries also translates into periods of peace. As for the pro-state and pro-government militias, the distinction fundamentally lies in their level of affiliation with the ruling regime of a country.

First, it is important to explain the significance of ideology in the research I am undertaking. Pro-state militias with ideological leanings can impact a state's political system positively or negatively. Previous research has suggested that if the ideology of PSMs is aligned with that of the government, it can lead to a mutually beneficial relationship. Such militias can help maintain law and order, protect the state's interests, and uphold its principles and values. This argument commonly holds true for authoritarian states that endorse various armed entities to work as extensions of governmental power, justice, and order. It is also paramount to analyze the ideological foundations of these groups as it can help us understand why they support the government and what their ultimate goals are. For example, some PSMs may be motivated by a desire to defend their country from external threats, while others may be motivated by a belief in authoritarianism and the need for a strong leader.

The previous argument may not, however, hold up in cases where the governmental force holds democratic values while the influential PSMs lean towards ideologies that conflict with this political structure. In my research, I focus on PSMs

upholding far-right ideologies, which are characterized by extreme nationalism, authoritarianism, and anti-democratic values. Their actions can lead to polarization of society, disruption of free and fair elections, disregard for the rule of law along with democratic institutions and ultimately undermine the legitimacy of the state.

Moving forward, the formulation of research questions and hypotheses this work attempts to decipher lies as following.

- A) "What is the impact of ultra-nationalist pro-state militias with a radical political ideology on the stability and functioning of the democratic system?"
- *B)* "To what extent do such militant groups pose a threat to the democratic system, and how are they integrated into it (e.g. through patronage ties)?"

I assume that it can be extensively debated whether these ideologically driven PSMs are furious political extremists or mere pragmatic participants pushing their individual agenda to amass power and wealth. These assumptions translate into the two research questions presented in the last paragraph.

Furthermore, this introduction presents the rationale and objectives of a diploma thesis that explores the impact of pro-state militias with a distinct political ideology on the stability and functioning of democratic systems. The focus of this study is on understanding the potential consequences of these militias' activities and influence on democratic processes and institutions in the context of a civil war. Moreover, it aims to assess the threat posed by these militias to the state, particularly in the light of their radical ideological background.

Additionally, this research aims to investigate the extent to which these pro-state militias have integrated into the state, examining aspects such as patronage ties, their incorporation into official military structures, and other forms of interaction. By addressing these research objectives, this study intends to contribute to the existing body of knowledge by providing a nuanced understanding of the implications and dynamics involved when such groups operate within a democratic framework.

To address the research questions, I propose conducting empirical research in the form of case studies. These case studies align with my delimitations and aim to partially fill the underexplored gaps of research regarding pro-state militias.

Moreover, the proposed concept of the "State-Militia Ambivalence Nexus" represents a novel framework for analyzing the complex relationship between states and ideologically driven pro-state militias. Grounded in the premises of reputable academic literature on security studies and conflict resolution, this concept offers a unique perspective on the ambivalent dynamics that emerge when states interact with the observed militias. By examining historical case studies, theoretical frameworks, and empirical evidence, this research aims to shed light on the intricate interplay of cooperation and confrontation, dependency and autonomy, and legitimacy and contestation within this nexus. Furthermore, by formulating hypotheses based on established theories and empirical observations, my study seeks to provide a robust analytical framework that enhances the understanding of state-militia dynamics. The integration of this innovative concept and the rigorous application of hypotheses will not only anchor the research in existing scholarship but also contribute valuable insights to the field, enriching the overall quality and significance of the diploma thesis.

The specific case study that I will be analyzing within this framework is Ukraine's Azov and Right Sector, given the country struggle against the Russian threat and its power politics. The limitations I have set for this research provide a crucial starting point for readers to understand the scope and boundaries of this thesis. Additionally, I will incorporate two more case studies, Croatia's 1990s HOS (*Hrvatske Obrambene Snage*), and the Colombian AUC (*Autodefensas Unidas de Colombia*), to demonstrate the relevance of my thesis through external validity and to provide a broader range of empirical evidence.

For instance, my research does not extend to entities like Emzar Kvitsiani's *Monadire's* in Georgia, as they were not ideologically driven, or Russia's *Kadyrovytsy*, as the Russian state apparatus cannot be considered a democracy. Therefore, my research is focused on partly free democracies, where these entities of pro-state militias could have a substantial influence over the political system, power structures, and decision-making of state officials.

The fundamental motivation behind my thesis is to partially fill the research gap I have encountered during my studies of this phenomenon. Although there is a substantial amount of academic research, sources, and perspectives regarding pro-state militias, only a few of them would successfully apply to my previous delimitations. This is mainly due

to the fact that there are not many democratic countries with a suitable environment for ideologically driven militias. Therefore, my thesis aims to shed light on this often overlooked but important topic within the context of democratic political systems.

### **Literature Review**

Pro-government militias (PGMs) have emerged as a relatively new issue in Security Studies. Their rapid rise in the post-Cold War period and subsequent spread in the contemporary world order have attracted much interest in the scholarship of International Relations. Thus it is safe to declare that the available academic literature has dealt with the phenomenon of pro-state militias with due diligence. However, an important caveat to consider is that much of this research focuses on militias within specific environments or scenarios, such as their linkage to authoritarian regimes, their effect on the outbreak of civil wars, or their agency and role within failed states (Staniland 2012, 2015; Ash 2016; Aliyev 2017, 2016; Aliyev and Odin Shaw 2021).

Despite these limitations, these works have proven to be valuable assets in understanding and analyzing the key factors that shape the way how state-affiliated militias tend to form, operate, and ultimately perish in the military and political void they occupy. It is important to highlight that, in authoritarian regimes, pro-government militias generally pose lesser level of threat to the regime. This is due to the fact that the monopoly of violence is often firmly held by the authoritarian political structure (Ash 2016; Carey et al. 2016b).

The inclusion of some of these writings in the literature review serves to draw out a broader theoretical framework and provide the thesis with more knowledge related to militias, which is essential for successfully understanding what they represent. On the other hand, some provided reviews consist of important research materials and arguments that are directly related to the stated notions and objectives of my diploma thesis. Such academic knowledge predominantly examines how PGMs may endanger the political system, to what extent their actions compromise governmental power, or how they form and nurture relationships with official authorities inside the state. Overview of such argumentation spectrum enables us to observe and analyze the inter-state relations of PGMs vis-à-vis democracies. Moreover, much of the included literature encompasses empirical findings related to case studies discussed in this thesis, particularly those concerning armed volunteer battalions in Ukraine from 2014 onwards.

Carey, Mitchell and Lowe (2013) introduce the Pro-Government Militias Database (PGMD), which comprehensively identifies and classifies PGMs from 1981 to 2007. The database captures the affiliations and characteristics of PGMs, including their links to the

government, membership composition, and target groups. The authors distinguish between informal and semi-official militias, providing a nuanced understanding of PGMs' affiliations with the government.

Carey and Mitchell (2017) develop a typology for PGMs, classifying them based on their connections to the government and society. They explore the reasons, repercussions, and persistence of PGMs, focusing on their impact on human rights and security. The authors argue against "apolitical" research on militias, emphasizing the ideology-based linkages of PGMs and their societal and political ramifications. They assert that ethnoreligious and political militias pose a greater threat to a state's foundations than local or non-civilian militias. Additionally, Carey and Mitchell (2017) propose ways to control PGMs based on their typology, which informs research on state strength, conflict dynamics, security sector reform, and human rights. Furthermore, Carey, Colaresi, and Mitchell (2016a) demonstrate how states can utilize militias to mitigate coup risks and enhance regime stability. They discuss the conventional method of coupproofing through establishing loyal military institutions while addressing the challenges related to power abuse and subversion of government authority. However, other studies have shown that such parallel forces can be difficult to regulate, particularly in terms of power abuse, jeopardizing civilian lives, and subverting the authority of the government (Aliyev 2022: 1378; Aliyev 2016: 12).

Other extant literature on state-militia relations has been burgeoning and focusing on many aspects of the interactions between these actors. Barter (2013) differentiates between predatory and popular anti-rebel militias, which applies to the PGMs' impact on local communities. Predatory PGMs worsen conflicts, displace populations, and commit human rights abuses. Popular PGMs, on the other hand, offer security and protection to marginalized communities threatened by rebels. Conversely, even popular PGMs can contribute to the erosion of democratic governance if they operate outside the rule of law or engage in criminal activities (Garay-Salamanca et al. 2012; Schultze-Kraft 2018). In some cases, these militias may even take control of governance in certain state institutions, justifying their actions by challenging the corrupt and ineffective regime while simultaneously catering to discontented civilians (Tate 2018; Pécaut 1997). In addition, scholars such as Laryš (2022) and Bjørgo (2019) have specifically examined the vigilantism dimensions of these pro-state militias, as well as their convergence with criminal networks and government authorities. The concept of state-parallel paramilitaries, as defined by Aliyev (2016), is important for understanding the relationship between weak state institutions and armed violence. These militias operate independently of the state but may still receive support from government officials or political elites, often in pursuit of safeguarding individual interests (Wood 2022; Aliyev 2022). Aliyev (2016) argues that the emergence and reliance on these militias is not necessarily a sign of state failure, but rather a response to it. These militias may in many cases constitute the sole source of security and protection for local communities; while in other circumstances, militias may even establish power alliances with the state's security forces in order to overpower insurgent forces and govern certain territories (Civico 2012).

Raleigh and Kishi (2020) argue that the use of PGMs is becoming an increasingly common tactic for states to achieve political goals, particularly in situations of political instability and contested elections. While PGMs are often established as a means of countering rebel groups, they can also be used as a tool for political repression, manipulation and competition (Zabyelina 2019; Aliyev and Odin Shaw 2021). This argument on the use of PGMs is insightful as it sheds light on the dynamics of these groups, which have become increasingly common in situations of political instability and contested elections. The authors highlight the potential impact of PGMs on democratic processes and the stability of the state, noting that they can contribute to the erosion of democratic governance by perpetuating violence and coercion. In this way, PGMs can distort the electoral process (Pachico 2011; Romero 2007; López and Sevillo 2008), intimidate opposition groups, and operate outside the rule of law, undermining state legitimacy and eroding public trust in government institutions.

The authors' argument is also relevant to understanding the formation and activities of PGMs in Ukraine and Croatia, where power struggles among elite political and military figures have been observed. The authors' claim that PGMs are not formed due to a particular crisis or the state's need to shift responsibility but are instead established based on governance methods that prioritize violent competition among powerful individuals is pertinent to the case of Ukraine and Croatia.

Additionally, Bukkvoll's (2019) research emphasizes the need for states to establish clear rules of engagement and command structures when integrating PGMs into their military operations. Without proper oversight and guidance, PGMs may engage in activities that are detrimental to the state's objectives and reputation. The study also

highlights the importance of understanding the motivations and ideology of PGMs. In the case of Ukraine, some volunteer battalions had far-right tendencies and were motivated by nationalist ideologies. Bukkvoll underscores the need for states to carefully vet and monitor the activities of PGMs to prevent them from engaging in activities that are contrary to the state's objectives and values.

In summary, Bukkvoll's article provides valuable insights into the complex relationship between PGMs and the state, emphasizing the potential risks and benefits associated with integrating PGMs into official military structures. His study underscores the importance of establishing clear rules of engagement and command structures when utilizing PGMs and understanding their motivations and ideology to prevent them from engaging in activities that are detrimental to the state's objectives and values.

Similarly, Malyarenko and Galbreath (2016) explores the motivations behind the formation and activities of paramilitary groups in Ukraine. The authors argue that paramilitary groups' motivations are not reducible to integration or abolition with the state, as they form in response to community-specific challenges shaped by historical, cultural, and political factors. Case studies of groups such as Azov and Right Sector show a range of motivations including defense of Ukrainian sovereignty, community protection, and nationalist/extremist ideologies. According to Rękawek (2023), foreign fighters in the Ukrainian conflict are not primarily motivated by ideology. Instead, their participation stems from a combination of adventure seeking, military training, and protecting their perceived ethnic or national group.

Much of the contemporary research on pro-state militias also emphasizes their impact on civil wars. Using the survival analysis method, Aliyev (2017) reveals that the involvement of pro-state militias consistently prolongs the duration of such conflicts. Carey et al. (2013: 256) add that the likelihood of civil conflict is slightly more than 2.5 times higher in states with informal militia groups, and it rises to being 3.7 times higher in countries with semi-official pro-state militias. In connection with that, disrupting peace processes appears to be a recurring phenomenon, particularly in relation to right-wing militias and their intolerant and uncompromising stance regarding nationalism and state perseverance vis-à-vis rebel forces (Kushner 2003; Bellamy 2003).

Moving forward, Käihkö (2018) explores the efforts of the Ukrainian government to control the various volunteer battalions that mobilized during the 2014 civil war in Ukraine. Käihkö's research focuses on the governmental strategies and possibilities for exerting control over these pro-regime volunteer units. He presents four plans of action, namely undermining, co-opting, incorporation, and coercion, that the Ukrainian government employed in its efforts to control the volunteer battalions. Through his analysis, Käihkö highlights the importance of exerting control over pro-government militias to minimize the potential threat they pose to democratic political systems.

In order to further explore the potential dangers posed by PGMs to the political system, several sources were analyzed for this thesis. Ash (2016) examines the decision-making process behind the formation of PGMs. According to Ash, leaders may form alliances with PGMs in order to ensure their own political survival, particularly in the face of potential threats to their leadership. The data used in this research suggests that governments with a high risk of being overthrown are more likely to form relationships with PGMs, and that the creation of PGMs is strongly linked to the existence or threat of civil war.

Additionally, Umland (2019) analyzes the rise of the Azov battalion as a nongovernmental force against separatist tendencies in Eastern Ukraine. Umland's research reveals that the emergence of the Azov battalion was led by controversial and radicalized individuals with dubious ideological backgrounds. Despite these concerns, some of these actors managed to penetrate high-level political structures in Ukraine (see also Fedorenko and Umland 2022). This presents potential dangers for democratic systems, as the involvement of such individuals in political circles may undermine the legitimacy of the political order and allow external actors to further the separatist tendencies against them. Taken together, the research of Ash and Umland highlights the complexities of the relationship between PGMs and political systems, and the potential risks that can arise from these partnerships.

Staniland (2015) delineates four different policies governments can deploy against state-affiliated proxies and connects the linkage between ideology and state-militia relationships with two comparative cases of India and Pakistan. Staniland argues that regime ideology is one of the paramount drivers of governmental stance and issued actions vis-a-vis militias. Although he omits the difference between democratic and authoritarian political systems, he contends that somewhat ideologically aligned militias are perceived as far less dangerous actors towards leading governmental regimes. This argument is relevant for researching the effects of ideology between governments and their subservient proxies, such as pro-government militias. While Staniland's approach is more relevant when dealing with authoritarian (non-democratic) sentiment, this linkage can also be applicable in the case study of Ukraine, where the cementing point falls under the umbrella of nationalism. Therefore, the effects of ideology on pro-government militias need to be investigated further.

In conclusion, the academic debate regarding the origins, dynamics, and effects of PGMs on state-making has been relatively successful in explaining and answering some of the most essential questions necessary for policymakers, who need to deal with such a fluid phenomenon. We have gained an understanding of why and how PGMs form, operate, and perish. Academics have also emphasized the various linkages that PGMs tend to create, nurture, or oppose. Nevertheless, the provided overview highlights a lesser emphasis on the ideological nature of PGMs, particularly on the dynamics of these entities vis-à-vis democratic order. The convergence of far-right ideology and pro-state militias and their potential threats to democratic order has garnered surprisingly little attention from scholars. Existing research has yet to determine whether the far-right ideology plays a significant role in influencing the impact of militias on state structures, particularly within the context of democratic statehood. This gap in literature highlights the need for further exploration and analysis of the complex relationship between far-right ideology, pro-state militias, and the preservation of democratic values.

Since the 2014 conflict in Ukraine, there has been a regular stress on the existence of far-right paramilitary forces that are supported and endorsed by the government. This trend has been accentuated countless times, even in popular media and journalism. Hardly ever has the focus been on whether such militias with radical ideologies truly affect the state and democratic order, or on the contrary, whether they are merely a rallying symbolism brought forward by a handful of political extremists. This debate may appear intriguing to the public, yet it is perplexing and paramount in understanding conflict, security, and state-making in such conditions.

### **Theoretical Framework**

The theoretical approach adopted to analyze the empirical data will be based on middlerange theories related to the impact of pro-state militias with a distinct political ideology on the stability and functioning of democratic systems. This approach is relevant to the research questions, as it provides a framework for understanding the specific phenomenon being studied while drawing on broader theoretical concepts.

As the research is situated within the field of security and conflict studies, relevant theoretical concepts related to pro-government militias, civil war, radical ideology, and democratic systems will be applied. The approach is based on objective knowledge, facts, and reality, suggesting a positivist or realist ontology and epistemology. Any biases or assumptions that may impact the analysis will be made explicit in the research.

Given the practical constraints of limited access to data and language barriers, secondary sources will be relied upon, and ethical considerations will be taken into account to ensure that the research does not cause harm to any individuals or groups involved in the case study.

#### **Pro-Government Militias**

Throughout history, governments have employed a range of strategies to assert their authority and maintain control over their citizens. One such tactic involves the deployment of pro-government militias and paramilitaries: armed non-state actors that operate in support of the government and carry out tasks that the government is either unwilling or unable to undertake.

As contemporary academic discourse indicates, pro-government militias and paramilitaries can take various forms, ranging from highly organized military units to loosely affiliated groups of armed civilians. They may be formally organized and supported by the government or operate independently with the implicit approval of state authorities. These non-state actors are often employed to suppress insurgencies, control territory, or conduct operations that would be politically unfeasible for the government to execute openly. Furthermore, some of these actors participate in both military and political activities, while others are solely involved in military operations. Additionally, some armed groups are exclusively relevant in the context of civil war, while others possess the ability to transform into distinct entities during peacetime and exert influence on political, military, and judicial structures.

The following chapter aims to propose, delimit, and differentiate the concept of pro-government paramilitaries and other similar actors, while simultaneously offering insight into the debate regarding the multifaceted nature of their dynamics vis-à-vis the state, political system, and rule of law.

#### Militias, Vigilantes, Death Squads, Proxies

Pankhurst and Thomson (2022) state that the term "pro-government militias" is frequently used interchangeably with other terms like "militias", "paramilitaries", "vigilantes", "death squads" and "pro-state armed groups". Jentzsch et al. (2015) define militias as armed groups that work alongside or independently of state security forces with the goal of protecting local communities from rebel demands or violence, while also attempting to gain the loyalty or cooperation of these communities. Paramilitaries are militant groups that operate outside the regular military or police forces, but with some degree of official backing from the government, and whose primary function is to suppress political opposition, including armed insurgencies (Felbab-Brown et al. 2017). Vinci (2008) coins vigilantes as armed groups that are formed by local citizens in response to insecurity, with the aim of protecting their communities from criminal activity or rebel violence, often with little or no support from the state. Death squads are armed units that are typically covert or semi-covert, and whose primary function is to carry out extrajudicial killings or other violent acts, often against political or social groups perceived as threats to the status quo or to the interests of the ruling elites (Campbell and Brenner 2002). In broader context, Keen (2008) describes pro-state armed groups as any militant entities that operate with some degree of official support or sanction from a government, and which pursue objectives that are broadly consistent with those of the state. These groups may include militias, paramilitaries, or other non-state actors that are aligned with and supported by a particular government or ruling elite. For instance, Aliyev (2016) similarly refers to such

concept as "state-parallel paramilitaries". According to Keen, the use of pro-state armed groups by governments can have both positive and negative consequences, depending on the specific context and the goals of the actors involved.

Carey et al. (2013) delimitate pro-government militia as any group that is a) considered to be aligned with the government or receiving support from it (whether on national or sub-national level); b) labelled as being separate from regular security forces of state apparatus; c) armed; d) with certain amount of organization. Pro-government militias play a significant role in civil wars, with Ukraine, Russia, Syria, and Sudan being the examples of governments that enlist non-regular troops in their armed campaigns against rebel forces (Carey et al. 2016b). Subsequently, such two-dimensional approach as distinguishing between informal and semi-official militia allows this typology to illustrate the PGMs linkage with government. The former being armed groups that are positively affiliated towards government and may be supported by or linked to the government, but do not have a recognized legal or semi-official status. The latter on the other hand, have a recognized legal or semi-official status, but are still separate from the regular security forces and identified as a distinct organization (Carey and Mitchell 2017: 130).

Concurrently, Barter (2013) recognizes the paramount importance of state-militia relationship, yet he argues, that equal focus should also be put on the militia-rebel dynamics. Barter's statement suggests that focusing primarily on the relationship between the government and militias can lead to an overemphasis on opportunistic behavior, while ignoring the role of coercion by rebel groups. Therefore, Barter challenges the traditional classification of pro-government militias ("loyalists", "collaborators", "proxy warriors", "paramilitaries") and instead coins a term "anti-rebel militias". The author defines such entity as militias that oppose rebel forces and consist of various groups, such as paramilitary units, village guards, self-defense forces, or death squads (Barter 2013: 77). They usually blur the lines between public and private spheres as well as military and civilian roles. Furthermore, they subvert the state's (and the rebels') ability to monopolize violence and are seldom held responsible for their deeds. Anti-rebel militias are established and endorsed by the state, or they defy both the state and rebel groups. He states that the former terms aren't inevitably inaccurate, but rather

they present too much of a narrow viewpoint on the issue. Barter's assertion challenges the prevailing assumption in literature that anti-rebel necessarily equates to pro-state. His reasoning revolves around the empirical evidence that these armed groups are not always loyal to the state as they may emerge due to the state's inability to ensure safety and security, or because government troops themselves create instability. Additionally, just because a state provides support to these militias, it cannot be assumed that they will always align with the state's agenda. It is worth noting that in remote areas of a country, militias established by ethnic minority groups may not necessarily conform to the government's expectations (Barter 2013: 78-79).

Continuing to explore the dynamics of PGMs, it is essential to recognize the recurring argument that such groups pose a significantly lesser threat to the political system of a nation ruled by an authoritarian regime. This is primarily due to the high loyalty, monopoly of violence and overall concentration of power firmly held in the grasp of the ruling elite. Several authors assert that PGMs promote stability, prevent violent insurgencies, and are less likely to engage in large-scale violence against the state than other types of armed actors (Ahram 2011; Cohen 2016). Furthermore, as Carey and her colleagues (2016a) state, PGMs may also contribute to political stability via coupproofing.

Nevertheless, as other scholars outlined, such assumptions may not always hold true. Kalyvas (2006) suggests that when these militias are given a high degree of autonomy and operate outside of the formal military chain of command, they may engage in more extreme violence, which can fuel opposition and lead to the outbreak of an insurgency. Kalyvas also adds that the pro-government paramilitaries that engage in extreme violence against civilians can contribute to the cohesion of rebel groups by generating a shared sense of grievance among the population and increasing support for the rebels. Similarly, Weinstein contends that PGMs extreme violence against civilians can lead to a devastating cycle of violence, in which insurgent groups respond with even greater levels of brutality (Weinstein 2007: 3).

It is important to acknowledge that contemporary scholarship predominantly focuses on the dynamics of PGMs within non-democratic states. This is logical, given that PGMs are more prevalent in non-democratic states as they serve as a means for the ruling regime to maintain power and control over the population. These militias are often composed of loyalists who are willing to use force to suppress dissent and maintain the status quo. Moreover, non-democratic states often lack accountability and transparency in the security sector, which allows PGMs to operate with impunity. In the absence of democratic institutions and mechanisms for peaceful resolution of disputes, militias can become a valuable tool for enforcing the government's will and suppressing opposition (Kleinfeld 2018).

Some academic scholars have conducted extensive research on the dynamics of PGMs within democratic states. While much of this research has focused on Latin America (Fumerton 2003; Bergquist et al. 2001; Koonings and Kruijt 1999), there is a growing interest in exploring the phenomenon in other regions and contexts, such as the complex PGM matrix in contemporary Ukraine. Furthermore, the inclusion of an ideological variable adds a new dimension to the existing literature on the topic. Through my research, I seek to examine how such groups may threaten democratic governance, or conversely, how they may not, adding to the body of knowledge and providing insights into a less explored context. Such research can contribute to a deeper understanding of the complex relationships between PGMs and competitive democracies.

In the upcoming chapter, the thesis aims to explore the nature of radical ideology in states with at least a partial democratic order, with a comprehensive examination of its origins, characteristics, and impact. This overview will also delve into the challenges faced by democratic governments in responding to radical ideologies, particularly in balancing security concerns with the protection of civil liberties. The primary objective of this research is to shed light on this complex and pressing issue, contributing to a deeper understanding of the intricate dynamics between radicalism and democracy.

#### PGMs, Far-Right and Partly-Free Democracies

Contemporary scholarship has shown that there is a complex and debated relationship between pro-government militias and far-right ideology. This chapter will focus on the far-right ideological spectrum, particularly nationalism, as it is a crucial aspect of this connection. It is worth noting that far-right ideology is a political ideology that emphasizes nationalism, authoritarianism, traditional values, and often includes xenophobic or racist beliefs (Mudde 2019: 11).

Oppenheim et al. (2015) argue that there is an inherent link between PGMs and ideology, particularly in terms of recruitment incentives and a sense of belonging to a strong community. Moreover, some pro-government militias have historical roots in paramilitary groups with connections to white supremacist or neo-Nazi movements (see Umland 2019; Malyarenko and Galbreath 2016). These militias promote far-right ideologies through their actions, such as the use of violence against perceived enemies of the state. Bjørgo (2019) adds that far-right political movements often engage in activities that involve protecting what they see as traditional societal norms, the interests of their own group, and opposing what they view as unacceptable behavior. These activities are historically and ideologically linked to a specific faction of far-right politics and are often used as a means of expressing and advancing their beliefs.

Next, in order to correctly delimitate my scope of theoretical perspective, it is also necessary to introduce the concept of a partly-free democracy, which is a form of government that combines both democratic and authoritarian elements (Repucci and Slipowitz 2021). Levitsky and Way (2010) note that partly-free democracies often have weak institutions, high levels of corruption, and limited accountability mechanisms. Diamond (2002) adds that in such systems, political competition may exist, but the ruling party or coalition may have significant advantages over the opposition, such as control over the media or state resources.

An example of a nation struggling to maintain a fully democratic political system is contemporary Ukraine, which gained independence from the Soviet Union in 1991. According to Freedom House's 2021 report on Ukraine, the country is currently categorized as "partly free," with a score of 63 out of 100. The report highlights concerns regarding corruption, media censorship, and the independence of the judiciary, despite relatively free and fair elections in recent years (Repucci and Slipowitz 2021). Furthermore, the ongoing conflict with Russia in eastern Ukraine has continuously undermined democratic institutions (HRW 2022).

In the context of PSM's impacts and possible threats, it is crucial to understand that the democratic political system in this research is primarily analyzed in terms of its political and institutional state system dynamics, security, and integrity, rather than being solely focused on electoral politics or the political party system.

In the following chapter, I delve into the theoretical discourse surrounding potential risks posed by PSMs towards the established governing order. I place particular emphasis on political systems that adhere to democratic principles or, as previously scrutinized, partially free systems. The debate on PSMs is multifaceted, with some scholars arguing that PGMs can help to bolster the state's security apparatus, while others suggest that they pose a significant threat to democratic governance. I explore the factors that determine the extent of the threat posed by PGMs, including the government's capacity to regulate and employ effective measures when confronting these groups. Additionally, I will highlight the perspectives of scholars who engage in this debate.

#### PGMs and Threats towards Political System

The extent of the threat posed by PGMs towards democratic governance depends on several factors, including the government's capacity to regulate and control these groups. According to Carey and Mitchell (2017), the state's monopoly on violence is a fundamental aspect of democratic governance. However, when the state is weak or lacks legitimacy, it may rely on PGMs to enforce its authority, which can undermine the state's legitimacy and ultimately lead to the erosion of democratic principles. Aliyev (2017) adds that governments often use PGMs to carry out violent acts that they cannot do themselves due to international laws. This is called principal-agent theory. However, PGMs have a history of committing atrocities against civilians such as mass killings, rape, and human rights abuses. Governments prefer to distance themselves from militias while still using them to maintain their control over the use of violence (Stanton 2015; Cohen and Nordås 2015; Carey et al. 2015; Ahram 2011). Moreover, Aliyev (2017) contends that PGMs, involved in civil wars, function as "veto players" with a vested interest in prolonging the conflict. These interests are complex and include the militias' pursuit of profit-making and political objectives, as well as the governments' desire to establish and maintain such militias. The militias' interests in continuing the war range from territorial control and retaining a monopoly on violence to earning illegal revenues and seeking political power. Although incumbents and militias may find common ground during civil wars, their interests may eventually clash. As a result, the conclusion of a conflict poses a threat to

the militias' collaboration with their patrons and their sources of income (Aliyev 2016). In this sense, the issue of PGMs poses a significant threat, as argued by Aliyev (2017), due to their capability to extend the duration of civil conflicts significantly and consistently. This is attributed to the various factors mentioned above, which ultimately hinder the protection of the democratic political system and undermine the establishment of the rule of law. Instead of preserving the democratic rule of law, PGMs tend to anchor the rule of force, thereby exacerbating the situation.

Additionally, Bukkvoll (2019) contends that the degree of influence that a government exerts over PGMs is a crucial element in assessing the level of threat posed by these groups. In certain circumstances, these organizations may operate independently of government control, while in other cases, they may be subject to direct or indirect government authority (Käihko 2018). For instance, Bukkvoll's (2019) empirical investigation exposes that the extent of independence attained by PGMs in Ukraine starting from 2014 was considerably elevated, and it ultimately undermined Ukraine's security to some extent. There were three decisive factors that facilitated a significant level of independence for some PGMs. Firstly, the battalions played a crucial role in the early phases of the conflict. Secondly, there was a considerable degree of similarity between the objectives of the regular Ukrainian forces and those of the volunteer battalions. Finally, these battalions were structured in a grassroots manner rather than being organized from the top-down (Bukkvoll 2019: 294).

Raleigh and Kishi address the perceived threat posed by PGMs and argue that they constitute a growing danger to both civilians and the stability of the democratization process of a state. To support their claim, the authors first note that these armed groups are offensive, rather than defensive, in nature. They aim to eliminate those whom they perceive as threats to the socioeconomic foundations of the ruling political hierarchy. The authors argue that this behavior is enabled by a political culture that allows the existence of unaccountable actors and violent actions (Raleigh and Kishi 2020: 2).

Moreover, the authors contend that PGMs have various affiliations with political elites, including senior regime affiliates, presidents, prime ministers, and others who are directly connected to the centralized power structure within the state. These armed groups engage with other organizations that have emerged in an environment of competitive democratization. The authors believe that the existence of PGMs arises from top-down governance practices, meaning that they do not emerge in response to the nature or size of a specific crisis or to solely act as the state where it is absent. Instead, PGMs are built on governance practices that emphasize violent competition between elite actors, fought informally and consistently (Raleigh and Kishi 2020: 3). Using a similar mode of argument, Ash (2016) claims that one of the primary goals for rulers is to establish a connection and build a rapport with PGMs. He asserts that doing so is essential to guarantee their physical and political survival, even in the event of a coup attempt from either internal or external sources (Ash 2016: 15). This brings us back to the concept of coup-proofing, which poses a significant threat to the smooth functioning of a democratic political system in numerous instances.

In contrast to Bukkvoll's argument in the preceding paragraphs, this perspective in scholarship illuminates the hazardous aspect of PGMs - their ability to serve as instruments for regimes to participate in violent competition with other political and governing elites by means of informally affiliated militias. This danger is not limited to authoritarian regimes; even partially free democracies can use PGPs to undermine political opposition or to gain an edge over competing factions.

To sum up the contemporary academic debate for the purposes of my research, PGMs pose significant threats to political systems in several ways. Firstly, when governments delegate violence to PGMs, they risk losing their monopoly on violence, which can result in a loss of authority and legitimacy of the state, as well as an erosion of democratic processes. This is because PGMs may use violence indiscriminately, and without proper oversight, which can lead to human rights abuses and further undermine the state's legitimacy.

Secondly, PGMs can prolong civil wars by retaining authority over violence that they use to advance the personal and material goals of PGM elites often linked even to the government itself. This can result in continued conflict, which further weakens the state's ability to maintain peace and stability.

Thirdly, PGMs can penetrate and create linkages with high-level politicians and statesmen, enabling violent competition and oppressing rival forces. This can lead to a breakdown of political institutions, as well as a loss of trust and confidence in the government.

Finally, PGMs can bring the state closer to authoritarianism, as they often serve as a coup-proofing entity with the goal of preventing the switch of power and protecting the ruling elite. This can result in a significant erosion of democratic processes and the consolidation of power within a small group of individuals.

To conclude the chapter, PGMs can pose significant threats to political systems, including the erosion of democratic processes, the proliferation of violence and the consolidation of power within a small group of individuals.

#### The Concept of Militia-State Ambivalence Nexus

In order to strengthen the foundations of the thesis in the current scholarship, demonstrate its relevance, and fill in gaps within the chosen topic, I formulate an argumentation and concept, which will be further tested and explored throughout the empirical and analytical sections of the research. Drawing upon the theoretical framework, key concepts, and subsequent empirical evidence, the argument put forth is that the government's ability to control, regulate, and politically and militarily absorb hardline ideologically driven prostate militias is crucial in determining the level of threat posed to the political order. In other words, I argue that the level of threat posed by radical PSMs towards democratic systems is closely linked to the government's ability to adhere to nationalistic sentiments of patriotism, control PSMs violence through delegation, and ultimately incorporate these groups into existing military structures to dismiss any possible threats outlined already in the work.

The proposed concept titled "Militia-State Ambivalence Nexus" seeks to encapsulate the intricate and contradictory nature of the relationship between the authorities and these militias. These militias, distinct from conventional pro-government militias associated with authoritarian regimes, can be referred to as pro-state militias to highlight their differentiation. Their affiliation with the state is characterized by an inherent ambivalence, as they are simultaneously indispensable to the authorities while also posing a potential threat due to their autonomy, radical ideology, and the prospect of confrontation. Aliyev's research (2016) anchored a similar appellation of "state-parallel militias", whereas the term "pro-state" (militia, paramilitaries, armed groups) is widely used by Staniland (2015, 2012). An equivalent of "pro-state militia" designation was also coined by Carey et al. (2013) as "semi-official pro-government militia".

In many instances, these pro-state militias openly express opposition to the ruling government for various reasons, such as the lack of patriotism, nepotism, inept military actions and so forth (Aliyev and Odin Shaw 2021: 8). However, these pro-government "government challengers" (Aliyev 2022) remain staunch advocates of state unity, the nation's integrity, and resolute opposition to any destabilizing forces, both internal and external, that jeopardize the ultra-nationalistic ideals ingrained within their far-right political ideology. Importantly, they do not harbor intentions to orchestrate a coup, although they may occasionally employ threats of such action as a means to amplify their influence, popularity, or power projection (Aliyev 2016: 12). Their association with the state therefore hinges on delicately striking a balance between their utility to the authorities and the prevailing apprehension regarding their autonomy and potential confrontations (Staniland 2015). By adopting this concept, I underscore the unique characteristics of these militias and emphasize the dynamic tension inherent in their allegiance to the state and their autonomous identity.

The "Militia-State Ambivalence Nexus" framework offers a comprehensive approach to assessing the threat levels posed by ideological PSMs while simultaneously addressing the complexities of their relationship with the state. The framework encompasses three interconnected steps: adhering to nationalism and promoting patriotism, engaging in controlled delegation of autonomy over violence, and incorporating these militias into existing military structures.

Firstly, the strategic response of embracing nationalism and disseminating patriotism narrative emerges as a viable approach to mitigate the threats posed by ideologically driven pro-state militias. By cultivating a narrative of inclusive patriotism, the state can effectively counteract the potential harm emanating from these groups. As Käihko (2018: 10-11) illustrates, Jews and Muslims once fought alongside far-right radicals to protect Ukraine. In addition, Staniland (2015: 777) argues, if militias ideologically aligned with the regime's ideology (at least to some degree), the possible threat levels would decrease significantly. Most notably, pro-state militias play a crucial

role in constructing and disseminating powerful ultra-nationalistic narratives that strongly resonate with the population, particularly in the times of (civil) war when the very foundations of the nation are at stake. Nevertheless, if the government itself embraces and partially incorporates this narrative, these militias face a significant erosion of their main pillar of popularity, thereby diminishing their political and electoral support among the general populace. Furthermore, this way of cultivating nationalism serves to unite society during the periods of conflict, fostering a sense of cohesion and shared identity (Malešević 2011).

Secondly, the controlled delegation of violence challenges some of the conventional wisdom that the loss of Weberian monopoly on violence undermines the legitimacy of the reigning governmental order, as exemplified by the case of Somalian warlords (Adam M. 1992) or the 1975-1990 Lebanese Civil War (Ghosn and Khoury 2011). Instead, I contend that by carefully entrusting certain powers of violence to prostate militias, these groups can assume the role of guardians against destabilizing insurgent forces within the state. This delegation provides a degree of freedom from accountability when dealing with internal conflicts, enabling the state to navigate delicate situations while maintaining a positive international reputation (Aliyev 2016; Carey et al. 2013). Moreover, as Aliyev (2016) frames, during periods of crisis and crucial moments for the regime's survival (e.g. civil war), pro-state militias tend to arise and flourish. At this time, the regime is left with limited alternatives and must depend on these paramilitary groups to handle various counterinsurgency duties. In such circumstances, the state reluctantly relinquishes its exclusive control over the use of violence in order to ensure its own survival (Aliyev 2016: 6). Although this link between the government and pro-state militias may be deliberately obscured, it is less likely to create a negative public perception (Ash 2016: 4).

Building upon the previous steps of adherence to nationalism and controlled delegation, the third step involves the assimilation of these militias into existing military structures, a process I term as 'state integration and cohesion'. Failing to incorporate prostate militias into the military exposes them to the risk of operating outside the government's control, potentially posing a threat to the political order. Moreover, without proper integration, these groups may further radicalize and eventually turn against the

very government that once supported them. Therefore, state integration and cohesion entails absorbing these ideologically driven PSMs into existing military structures, providing them with clear chain of command, and establishing accountability mechanisms. This process ensures that these groups are trained, equipped, and directed in a manner that aligns with the government's goals and values. By incorporating pro-state militias into the military, the government confers legitimacy and recognition upon them, while simultaneously neutralizing any potential risks they may pose to the political system. This integration also yields additional benefits, such as enhancing the government's military capabilities and improving overall security, as experienced fighters and military personnel contribute their expertise and combat skills.

Although my concept draws inspiration from the reputable contributions of Carey et al. (2013) and Aliyev (2016), it presents a distinctive approach to the delimited subject matter. The concept I propose aims to capture the intricate and contradictory nature of the relationship between authorities and militias, while emphasizing the inclusion of radical ideology that fundamentally contradicts the democratic state system. These pro-state militias, driven by their radical ideology, have the potential to pose a threat, yet they can also serve as invaluable assets to the government during times of conflict. Moreover, while Aliyev (2016) and Carey et al. (2013) have explored similar concepts, my methodology differs in its emphasis on the dynamics of integration, confrontation, patronage ties, and the overall impact of ideologically driven militias on the democratic state. This approach recognizes the resilience of the state and takes into account the popularity of these pro-state militias within political circles. By adopting this framework, I shed light on the unique characteristics of these militias and underscore the inherent tension between their loyalty to the state and their autonomous identity.

In conclusion, I argue that the proposed three-step framework of "Militia-State Ambivalence Nexus" offers an effective approach to assessing the threat levels of prostate militias and addressing their intricate relationship with the state. By promoting nationalism with patriotism ideals, engaging in controlled delegation, and incorporating these militias into existing military structures, governments can effectively regulate and utilize these groups while simultaneously enhancing overall security and stability.

### Methodology

#### **Type of Methodology**

I have opted to use a qualitative approach that utilizes non-numerical and unquantified data as the methodological approach of my diploma thesis. This decision was driven by the central idea of my thesis, which aims to comprehensively explain both latent and manifest data concerning the role of pro-state militias in political systems. Additionally, this methodology will allow me to examine the interconnectedness of ideologically driven prostate militias within the democratic system of Ukraine.

The qualitative model was selected as the most suitable method to investigate the phenomenon of pro-state militias and to examine the specific case studies of chosen political environments. This choice was reinforced by the need to explore the significance of context of pro-state militias and their impact on democratic systems. Conducting a thorough analysis and understanding the important interconnections, as well as the underlying nuances in contemporary academic research, will facilitate the development and conceptualization of my research question and essential notions of the thesis.

The ontological framework of my thesis aligns with the objectivism idea, as the existence of pro-state militias operating in Ukraine is an established fact. Moreover, several of these militias have ideologically driven motives that may affect democracy. Consequently, the subsequent empirical research will generate objective knowledge, furthering the aim of the thesis.

The epistemological approach of my thesis mainly draws from political science, acknowledging that I can only work with the earlier-described objective knowledge. In this way, I will gain insights into the effects of pro-state militias on democratic systems, and my research will contribute to the existing body of knowledge in this area.

#### Data

For the purpose of my empirical research in my master's thesis, I am using secondary data. The collection, analysis, and use of various secondary data sources enables me to augment my initial research questions and test various theories, concepts, and studies against this data. Specifically, I am utilizing external secondary data sources, such as scholarly articles, journal entries, academic literature, and website publications developed by other researchers in the field. Additionally, my thesis includes partially internal data, such as various governmental papers or political statements related to pro-state militias.

However, it is noteworthy to mention that my project is able to work solely with publicly available data. Access to classified data is not possible, and even publishing such data is not aligned with the nature of my research. Consequently, omitting the use of primary data is a suitable approach for the methodological perspective of my thesis. Moreover, as I lack the expertise and position to interview for instance Ukrainian politicians or militia officials, this approach is deemed as pragmatic.

It is also crucial to acknowledge the limitations regarding the trustworthiness and validity of the data used in my thesis. Working with purely secondary sources can potentially result in biased knowledge, statements, or courses of action. For instance, relying too heavily on research regarding pro-state militias operating in totalitarian regimes might not be applicable to the case study in my thesis.

In conclusion, using secondary data sources in my research allows me to analyze and interpret a range of data from various sources, and facilitates testing of theoretical concepts and frameworks. However, it is important to recognize the limitations of using only secondary data, and to consider the potential for bias when drawing conclusions from this data.

#### **Data Collection**

For the method of data collection for my thesis, I opted for the traditional case study analysis. The chunks of empirical data I retrieve are from a number of various types of case studies, all of which correspond to the theme and nature of my diploma thesis. Subsequently my additional endeavour in the data collection method lies in the observation and analysis of a diverse range of academic texts, publications, documents, newsletters and reports. I intend to access all these mentioned data through two ways. First, by using various universal and comprehensive databases archiving all of such materials I am allowed to access those data and subsequently analyse them for the purposes of my research. Second, using few distinct physical archives and libraries in my country to access complete pieces of literature allows me to employ such data in a manner that corresponds to the intellectual course of my thesis. However, it is necessary to mention few obstacles and limitations I may encounter while using these methods of acquiring data. The most frequent one might be the absence of some important data sets from the data sites I desire to draw from. Regardless, this obstacle could be surpassed by visiting a more renowned library or archive abroad, should I encounter such limitation. Last but not least, it is also appropriate to mention the range of databases my faculty allows me to access through the profile available. Although I am often able to access a very large scope of online databases for the materials needed for research, there may be some cases where the data might be stored in a database that isn't included in those available to our faculty. Nonetheless, when dealing with the literature review, such scenario proved to be rather unusual and if it occurred, I was simply able to obtain the data from a different source, generally unmodified or only slightly reduced. Last but not least, in order to overcome the security and validity risks of data collection when collecting the empirical data, I shall subject some of them to the triangulation principle, in the sense of combining different types of data I gather. For instance, using different sources in terms of person, time and place categories.

#### Data Analysis

After conducting the data collection process, my focus shifts to the analysis phase, which I intend to undertake in a qualitative manner, primarily adopting a case study method with the utilization of analytical categories to enhance clarity, robustness and overall cohesiveness. This method involves a systematic process of observation and explanation of repeated patterns and consistency in the data sets. In other words, I will use an organized process to identify and explain the context within the data, subsequently expanding and extending the data content with more objectives.

Furthermore, I will analyze the statements of politicians or warlords about the prostate militias and their reactionary proclamations about their actions, beliefs, statements, or dangers. By doing so, my diploma thesis attempts to employ a comprehensive data analysis approach that goes beyond mere overview of case studies. The obtained data are also divided into four analytical categories to improve clarity and provide a more coherent presentation of empirical findings both for the reader and for the purpose of successfully fulfilling the research objectives.

In addition to the enhanced case study analysis, I will also utilize parts of the qualitative comparative analysis approach. This approach will enable me to identify,

confirm, and highlight the complex causal blueprints while also making a clearer distinction between sufficient and necessary circumstances of pro-state militias in strongly different environments, their external validity, and other relevant factors. By fusing these distinct data analysis approaches, I will be able to fully capitalize on each of their strengths and partially negate the pitfalls each one offers. This will enable me to take an objective stance when analyzing the large amount of data subjected to my diploma thesis.

Overall, the use of multiple data analysis procedures in my research is a positive step towards ensuring the reliability and validity of my findings. It will enable me to gain a comprehensive understanding of the research topic and contribute to the existing knowledge on the subject matter.

#### Conceptualization

In the preliminary process of conceptualizing the data analysis for my thesis, I will adhere to the following approach. I shall observe and link the wide range of patterns, similarities, and relationships that I encounter during my data collection. Then, in the data analysis stage, I will summarize and consolidate all my findings and deploy them against the theories and research questions or ideas that I developed in the earlier stages of thesis research design.

The hypotheses I will be working with were introduced in the earlier part of my research design. Specifically, I will be examining the numerous pro-state militias with ideological backgrounds, such as Right Sector and Azov, to determine if they pose a real and notable threat to the democratic political system in Ukraine or if they are pragmatic participants operating in a mutually beneficial relationship with the Ukrainian political spectrum. When linking these hypotheses with the conceptualization of my data analysis, I will highlight the importance of focusing strictly on the contextual patterns inside the data sets that directly correlate or partially relate to the key notions of my thesis.

The aim of my conceptualization chapter is to establish a clear framework for the data analysis process and explain how it will be used to examine and evaluate the hypotheses I have developed. By following a systematic approach to data analysis, I can ensure that my findings are objective and based on sound evidence. Additionally, by observing and linking patterns in the data, I can identify relationships between variables and draw conclusions based on empirical evidence.

Ultimately, the conceptualization of my data analysis will facilitate the derivation

of meaningful and reliable conclusions regarding the research questions and hypotheses presented in my thesis. By maintaining a diligent focus on contextual patterns directly relevant to the fundamental concepts of my thesis, I can ensure that my analysis remains both pertinent and impactful.

Furthermore, it is crucial to recognize that my research conceptualization extends beyond the mere examination of far-right militia groups. I firmly believe that this approach holds significant potential in effectively analyzing a broader spectrum of militias characterized by radical ideologies, including far-left, Islamic extremism and so forth. This could, for instance, involve the investigation of cases such as Allende's Chile or the Spanish Civil War, within the framework of my research. By acknowledging this, the applicability of my argument expands to encompass a much larger set of case studies for potential future research endeavors.

## **Empirical Findings**

This empirical study investigates the pivotal role played by pro-government militias (PGMs) in the political systems of various, to some degree democratic, countries, with a particular focus on Ukraine. Croatia Defense Forces in the 1990s and Colombia with the United Self-Defenses of Colombia (AUC) serve as two auxiliary case studies to lend external validity to the research. The motivation behind focusing on Ukraine as the main case study is that ideologically-based PGMs have become a critical element in Ukraine's political landscape in recent years. The Ukrainian government has increasingly turned to militias to augment its security forces amidst the ongoing conflict with Russia. However, some of the prominent figures within these militias have infiltrated the governance system and become political actors in the process. While most PGMs were successfully integrated into official structures, the intricacies of the processes and actions leading to their incorporation are undoubtedly of significant academic interest.

The main empirical study centers on two ideologically-based PGMs in Ukraine – Azov Battalion and Right Sector. These militias emerged during the 2013-2014 Maidan protests and played a significant role in the conflict with Russia in eastern Ukraine. Their far-right and nationalist ideologies have stirred controversy both within Ukraine and on the global stage. This empirical study therefore aims to examine the role of Azov Battalion and Right Sector in Ukraine's political system.

To achieve this goal, the study's analytical framework focuses on answering several sub-research questions. These include: how ideologically-based PGMs perceive their role in Ukrainian politics and what their political goals may be, how they interact with the Ukrainian government and other political actors, and how they influence the political dynamics in Ukraine. The study employs a case study methodology and collects data from various sources such as academic literature, document analysis, and news reports. The analysis of this data will provide insights into the broader issues of non-state actors' influence on politics.

In conclusion, this empirical study offers a unique perspective on the role of PGMs in Ukraine's political system. The findings have significant implications for policymakers and scholars interested in understanding political violence and the role of ideologically based non-state actors in political systems. Additionally, the auxiliary case studies of Croatia and Colombia lend external validity to the study's findings, broaden our understanding of the role of pro-government militias in other contexts and open up avenues for further research.

#### **Initial Hypotheses and Assumptions**

In order to establish the framework of my initial hypothesis, which will later be tested against empirical findings in the analytical section, I argue that the oft-cited danger of right-wing militias' ideological foundations may be often considerably overstated by mass media, peripheral international entities with limited political clout, and select influential individuals. My hypothesis centers on the notion that while these paramilitaries may indeed include political radicals and extreme far-right advocates, it is important to note that ideological motivation is not the sole determining factor for all militia members when it comes to their reasons for joining. Some individuals are motivated by the perception of being determined fighters against insurgency threats in order to protect the nation, while others are driven by the desire to be recognized as skilled professionals of elite forces operating outside of conventional, and often dysfunctional, army command. Furthermore, there are other incentives to join militias which may include personal motivations combined with a sense of adventure-seeking or the need to ensure individual survival during conflict (Carey et al. 2013; Rekawek 2023).

Hence, I contend that the purported ideological peril posed by these militias is considerably less significant than the frequently contested discourse suggests. To clarify, the recurring discussion surrounding the presence of hazardous extremist beliefs in a nation boasting a reasonably stable democratic governance provides a sensationalized and inflated narrative that ultimately holds limited relevance to substantive political and military matters.

In the short-term perspective, the existence of nationalist militias can significantly strengthen a state's security and defense, particularly during times of military conflict. However, for such dynamics to ultimately benefit the state, these armed groups must be successfully integrated into the official military structures. As this occurs, the cloud of radical ideology behind the militias fades and ultimately disappears. While it is true that

the state loses its monopoly over violence, and there may be consequences when combined with perceived far-right radicalism, the correct decision-making processes can ultimately allow a regime to secure its defense and augment its combat potential. Furthermore, the presence of ill ideology has little room to cause significant turmoil among military and civilian populations, as there are more important goals, such as defending the homeland, protecting national identity, or ensuring individual survival in times of war.

In summary, my hypothesis suggests that while right-wing militias include members driven by ideology, the radical ideology underlying these groups has little impact on the functioning of democratic political systems. Moreover, the short-term benefits of nationalist militias during the times of conflict can outweigh potential risks, especially if the groups are eventually integrated into official military structures, leading to a reduction in the threat posed by ideology. However, greater emphasis should be placed on analyzing the far-right political wing establishments of these PSMs, as they appear to hold greater relevance for the political system based on my initial thoughts and empirical overview. Nonetheless, this topic exceeds the scope of interest for my thesis, and therefore should be rather considered as a potential foundation for further academic research.

### **Case Selection**

The cases of pro-state militias that were chosen were based on specific criteria. These cases were selected because they demonstrated clear ideological radicalism and a commitment to state unity without challenging the existing order during civil wars, while in some cases not necessarily conforming to the ruling government. Furthermore, all of the selected cases existed within a partly-free democratic environment, which enables the research to investigate the nexus between the militias with distinguishable radical ideology and their potential threat and impact on the democratic political system. The rationale behind selecting the four cases presented below lies in the fact that they exemplify a farright militia operating within a competitive political system that is experiencing an armed conflict, resulting in significant weakening of the state and its capabilities. Consequently,

all of the cases chosen for empirical analysis provide a robust sample for unraveling the research questions addressed in the thesis.

Two case studies focus on Ukraine in the post-Maidan period starting from 2014. One of these studies examines the Azov Battalion, which later evolved into the Azov Regiment and expanded into a broader socio-political organization known today as the Azov movement. The origins of the Azov movement can be traced back to the establishment of the Azov Battalion in 2014, which emerged in response to the aggression of Russian-backed forces. The Azov Battalion was explicitly affiliated with far-right ideologies and acted as a precursor to the Azov movement (Colborne 2022; Umland 2019, 2020; Shekhovtsov and Umland 2014).

Second, The Right Sector, an influential nationalist political and paramilitary movement, emerged amidst the Maidan protests of 2013-2014, leading to the ousting of President Viktor Yanukovych and his pro-Russian government. During the early stages of the Maidan protests, the formation of the Right Sector emerged as a coalition of smaller far-right political factions and football hooligans, including extremist nationalist groups like Trident (Tryzub) and Ukrainian National Assembly-Ukrainian People's Self-Defense (UNA-UNSO; Ukrayins'ka Natsional'na Asambleya-Ukrayins'ka Narodna Samooborona), as well as far-right organizations like the Social-National Assembly (SNA; Sotsial-Natsional'na Asambleya) and its paramilitary arm Patriot of Ukraine (PU; Patriót Ukravíny). Despite starting with a small number of members, the group quickly recruited thousands who were armed, trained, and prepared to serve as self-defense units. After the Maidan revolution, the official paramilitary wing of the Right Sector was established as the Ukraine Volunteer Corps (UVC; Dobrovol'chyi ukrains'kyi korpus) (Katchanovski 2019: 10; Zabyelina 2019: 284; Umland 2020: 261). Characterized by pronounced far-right ideologies and anti-Russian sentiments, the Right Sector encompasses both political and paramilitary factions. During the protests, the movement played a pivotal role in inciting violent clashes and subsequently witnessed numerous members transitioning to the Ukrainian military, actively engaging in the ongoing conflict against Russian-backed separatists in eastern Ukraine (Likhachev 2015; Shekhovtsov and Umland 2014; Zabyelina 2019; Umland 2020; Katchanovski 2019).

The third case encompasses the Croatian Defence Forces – HOS, a paramilitary of the far-right political party Croatian Party of Rights (HSP; *Hrvatska stranka prava*) led by

the activist Dobroslav Paraga. The militia formed as a reaction to inept actions of President Tudjman and the leading garniture in the war with Yugoslavia after Croatia declared independency in 1991. Its existence was short lived, as their antagonism towards Tudjman, Ustasha glorification and incompliance was perceived as a tangible threat for the ruling regime, provoking a harsh and quick process in incorporating the armed militiamen into official army structures through years 1992-1993 (Ferguson 2015, 2020; Horncastle 2015; Irvine 1997; Radonic 2013).

The last case presents The United Self-Defense Forces of Colombia (AUC) which emerged in the late 1990s as a conglomeration of right-wing paramilitary groups. In the early 1980s, amidst ongoing violence and government inability to address the situation, right-wing individuals including businessmen, ranchers, and military personnel organized and armed vigilante militias as a response to the guerrilla threat in Colombia. In 1984, when the government proposed negotiations with the leftist terrorists, hardline factions in the military and business communities vehemently opposed it. As a result, the vigilantes formed a paramilitary coalition known as the AUC, led by Carlo Castaño. The AUC employed brutal and terror tactics to undermine the support for the leftist guerrillas, quickly gaining a reputation for their potency and intimidation (Kushner 2003: 384–385).

In the case of the AUC, it is important to highlight the caveat that this particular case may appear as a one of lesser significance, primarily due to its ideological nature. While Ukraine and Croatia exhibit a clear inclination towards far-right ideologies such as neo-Nazism or Ustasha legacy, the AUC presents a slightly different scope of the far-right movement, more aligned with the Latin American cultural context. Here, the radical right vehemently opposes the far-left guerrillas and advocates for a strong state with authoritarian elements rooted in fascist ideology. Despite this deviation, the existing literature still classifies the AUC as a far-right group. Hence, even this case serves as a valid empirical study within the delimited scope of my research (Kushner 2003; Bargent 2014; Rabasa and Chalk 2001; Tate 2018; Sherman 2015; UCDP 2023)

The discussion on the ideological nature of the Azov, Right Sector and the HOS follows the conventional left-right paradigm, where far-right movements are positioned towards the extreme end of the political spectrum. Far-right perspectives include radical nationalism and fascism, with neo-Nazi organizations being contemporary examples characterized by their adherence to national-socialist principles and the use of Nazi symbols (Katchanovski 2019: 9). These groups fall within the broader category of neo-

fascist or fascist political orientations (Griffin and Feldman 2003; Lipset and Raab 1970).

During the initial debriefing, consideration was given to the evidence of other farright militias within competitive democratic systems during armed conflicts; however, the decision was made to exclude them. For instance, the case of right-wing falangists in the 1975 Lebanon civil war was deemed inapplicable due to the collapse of the state and the loss of governmental control. Similarly, the inclusion of the far-right paramilitary organization known as OAS (Secret Armed Organization) in 1960s France is irrelevant to this research, as France was a robust state that did not require the assistance of militias to fight Algerians. A similar conclusion applies to England, where loyalist militias with farright elements participated during the conflict in Northern Ireland. In these instances, the state also exhibited sufficient fighting capacity, rendering the reliance on potential spoilers embodied by far-right paramilitary units unnecessary.

# Areas of Friction and Conflicts with the State – Protests, Crime, Political Violence

Since their establishment in the middle of 2014, Azov and other battalions have consistently challenged the government in Ukraine, employing both "hard" and "soft" tactics. For example, the Ukrainian militias resorted to tactics that escalated the conflict in Donbas, compelling the Ukrainian state to take action rather than adopting a passive stance, as it did so during the Crimea crisis (Käihkö 2018: 1, 7-8). Among the "soft" methods adopted by these battalions, leveling accusations of corruption, nepotism, and inefficiency was a prominent strategy. For instance, during his electoral campaign in the parliamentary elections of 2014, Biletskyy, the leader of Azov, extensively used anticorruption rhetoric and publicly accused the government of corruption on numerous occasions. The same modus operandi was employed by Dmytro Yarosh, the leader of the Right Sector, who openly leveled corruption allegations against President Poroshenko. Furthermore, Oleh Petrenko, a former commander of Azov, went a step further by accusing the National Guard of Ukraine (NGU; *Natsionalna hvardiia Ukrainy*) of colluding with pro-Russian separatists (Aliyev 2022: 1337).

However, it is important to note that their discontent did not involve challenging the government's legitimacy or its role in leading the fight against the eastern rebellion at that time. Yarosh initially pledged his allegiance to President Poroshenko and later confirmed it (Puglisi 2015: 9). The ideology of ultra-nationalism often took precedence over other issues, and Azov with Right Sector aligned with the government's stance during the war against common outside enemy (Bukkvoll 2019: 296).

When Dmytro Yarosh stepped down as the head of Right Sector in 2015, the organization underwent a shift in leadership and ideology. While Yarosh continuously voiced his disagreements with the government, he still advocated for compromise and closer relationships with the state. Nonetheless, the new leadership, represented by Andriy Stempitskyy and Andriy Tarasenko, adopted a more revolutionary stance and intensified the criticism of the Ukrainian government while also inciting protests and utilizing violent means (Aliyev 2022: 1377). They denounced the post-Maidan government as an "internal occupant" and expressed their opposition to the perceived promotion of despised leftliberal values (Ukrainska Pravda 2016; Fedorenko and Umland 2022: 240-241). The leaders emphasized the use of violent means as a superior strategy compared to parliamentary battles (Aliyev 2022: 1337). In a televised interview, Andrii Sharaskin, the spokesman for the UVC, reported that Yarosh acknowledged divergent perspectives within the organization's growth towards establishing an independent Ukrainian state which was the paramount goal of their endeavors. While some members advocated for radicalization, Yarosh found it unacceptable, yet respected their right to hold such opinions (Censor.NET 2015b). The shift in ideology and tactics signified a departure from Yarosh's more compromising approach and marked a more confrontational and revolutionary era for Right Sector towards Ukrainian government.

Furthermore, the Right Sector, along with its UVC paramilitary force and other affiliated militias, consistently displayed hostility towards both the administrations of Poroshenko and subsequently Zelenskyy. This animosity stemmed primarily from their perception of the government's lenient treatment of pro-Russian politicians, activists, and political parties. The state's failure to take proactive measures against internal adversaries, such as pro-Russian elements, was a key point of contention raised by these militias. They regarded these adversaries as potential Kremlin spies who posed a significant threat to Ukraine's sovereignty. Moreover, the government faced criticism for its perceived lack of a robust patriotic response to destabilizing forces within the country (Balmforth 2014).

In comparison to Azov, Right Sector struggled to secure support from government officials and financial backing from oligarchs. Instead, the leadership of Right Sector sought connections with billionaire businessmen but involved criminal elements in the procurement of weapons and military hardware (Wood 2022: 123). This difference in approach led to frequent clashes between Right Sector's armed volunteers and official security authorities, stemming from disagreements over subordination to the army and accusations of criminal activities among its members (Yarosh and Stempitskyy 2014).

The conflict between the government and the Right Sector eventually transcended mere verbal exchanges. The militia accused the government of engaging in political terror against voluntary battalions and exerting political pressure on volunteers, even resorting to violent means against certain militia members (Lashchenko 2015). For instance, the killing of Oleksandr Muzychko, the coordinator of the Right Sector, by special security forces further intensified their disillusionment and distrust towards the government. This event ultimately led the Right Sector to completely reject integration efforts in 2014 (Gomza and Zajaczkowski 2019: 782). The incident was enveloped in a cloud of uncertainty and conflicting statements. While the police claimed that Muzychko had taken his own life, the militias interpreted it as a premeditated murder or forced suicide orchestrated by the SBU to eliminate a perceived threat to the Ukrainian government. The latter scenario was also widely supported by Russian news agencies (Dolzhenkova 2014; RIA Novosti 2014). Subsequent official investigations concluded that the authorities acted within the confines of the law, determining that Muzychko's death resulted from his engagement in gunfire with the apprehending officers (Radio Svoboda 2014). Nonetheless, the ongoing tensions stemming from this, and similar incidents have significantly contributed to the perception of injustice by the government towards the Right Sector. Consequently, this has solidified their strong and adversarial stance, prompting them to actively seek influence and, to some extent, rebel against a political system they deemed oppressive and unpatriotic. Consequently, the Right Sector has resorted to utilizing its armed forces in protests, uprisings, criminal activities, and vigilante-like behavior.

In its vigilantism stance, the Right Sector was increasingly vocal in expressing its dissatisfaction with the Ukrainian justice system, particularly with regard to the judges whom they believed were failing to effectively administer justice to individuals involved in crimes against Ukrainians during the Maidan period. In relation to the courts, there are documented instances of Right Sector-associated groups forcefully disrupting trial proceedings and exerting pressure on judges to resign from their positions. They frequently targeted courts in Odesa, specifically in relation to the investigation and trial of individuals accused of crimes connected to the House of Trade Unions fire, which resulted in the loss

of over 30 lives during violent clashes between pro-Maidan activists and security forces. For instance, on November 27, 2015, when the Malynovskii District Court of Odesa granted bail to several suspects involved in the House of Trade Unions incident, approximately 50 members of Right Sector blocked the pretrial detention facility, demanding that the prosecution revoke the suspects' release (Zabyelina 2019: 285; OHCHR 2016). Furthermore, Right Sector, along with other groups, vehemently opposed any potential compromises with the rebel republics in the east, frequently organizing protest rallies and assaulting Ukraine's security forces. Dissatisfied ultra-nationalists often resorted to violent street protests as a "hard" means of challenging the status quo. Moreover, Right Sector directly engaged and undermined the official security forces of the regime, contesting the government's authority (Aliyev 2022: 1378). The leadership of Right Sector paramilitary has repeatedly issued warnings of a potential military coup should Kyiv officials concede occupied territories or grant special status to the Donbas region (Aliyev 2016: 12).

In March 2015, the Ukrainian military prosecutor initiated multiple criminal prosecutions against members of paramilitary battalions, including Right Sector. The main impetus were the reports of alarming rate of criminal activity of pro-Ukrainian militias in the Eastern Ukraine against civilians and their property. In response, the paramilitary groups engaged in various activities, starting with peaceful protests and escalating to violent actions and local battles with official security forces. The clashes were primarily seen as a result of competition between the battalions and government officials for the control of illegal trade and smuggling markets, rooted in the corrupt and weak state (Malyarenko and Galbreath 2015: 124).

One significant event related to the violent clashes between the state and militias occurred in early July 2015 when a conflict erupted in Mukachevo, a city in western Ukraine, between Ukrainian security forces and armed fighters from Right Sector. Following a violent exchange involving grenade launchers and heavy machine guns, that was initiated by the Right Sector and resulted in the destruction of police vehicles, the attackers retreated. Casualties were reported on both sides. A special operation was conducted to secure the area, disarm the assailants, and apprehend the criminal group responsible. The General Prosecutor's Office formed a joint investigative team with the SBU and the Ministry of Internal Affairs to investigate the incident, which involved charges of creating a criminal organization and committing a terrorist act (Radio Svoboda

2015). Immediately after the incident, President Poroshenko stated that the incident exhibited indications of the Kremlin's involvement, thereby implying a potential link between the Kremlin and the aforementioned event. He added that; "...*I must root out the phenomenon of illegal armed formations mercilessly regardless of their motivation.*" (Censor.NET 2015c).

In subsequent investigations, the Verkhovna Rada commission revealed that the shootout was primarily provoked by the police forces. Furthermore, it was highlighted that the perilous interaction between law enforcement forces and Right Sector members had been orchestrated by the leadership of the Interior Ministry and Security Services in the Zakarpattia region, with the aim of gaining control over contraband flows (Censor.NET 2015a).

In Croatia, with the onset of the war with Yugoslavia over the independency referendum from 1991, Tudjman and HDZ were subjected to intense criticism from HSP and Paraga for their perceived incompetence in responding to the Serb aggression. Specifically, they were accused of failing to mobilize the paralyzed and crumbling Croatian Army (HV) and of being unsuccessful in taking resolute military action to defend the country (Ferguson 2020: 77)

Furthermore, The HSP/HOS opposed Tudjman and his party due to their lack of radical nationalism, previous service in the communist army, and willingness to compromise with the Serb minority in Croatia. Another reason why Paraga, Paradžik, and others opposed the government was their disagreement over Tudjman's policy of collaborating with the international community to resolve the Yugoslav crisis. Additionally, they posited that the Croatian state required a more radical defense than what was being offered by President Tudjman (Bellamy 2003: 84). By contrast, Tudjman perceived the radical tendencies of HSP, accompanied by armed fighters in the HOS, as problematic (ibid. 78).

Friction between paramilitaries and the government further intensified following the loss of the city of Vukovar by the Croats in November 1991. The HOS suffered a significant blow in losing the battle to the Yugoslav People's Army (JNA; *Jugoslovenska narodna armija*) and Serbian paramilitaries, who characterized the city as a stronghold of Croatian fascists (Horncastle 2015: 756-757). The bloody 87-day siege of Vukovar was a bitter episode of the war for the HOS, who had participated in its defense. Moreover, the

Croatian government impeded efforts to reinforce the city, leading the HOS forces to perceive the authorities as having betrayed them deliberately, resulting in the city's fall (Veselinović 2014: 87-88). Paraga held the belief that the government's inability to provide assistance to the Croatians who endured the Vukovar siege for three months was an act of treason further fueled the already-hostile relationship between the opposing sides (Bellamy 2003: 78).

As a consequence, the HSP and HOS officials were frequently targeted by the authorities. For instance, Ante Paradžik was killed by Croatian police units on the outskirts of Zagreb in September 1991, as they allegedly mistook him and his colleagues for Serb paramilitaries. Paraga reacted to the press claiming that this was a calculated and premeditated political murder orchestrated by the government (Lekić 1991). In March 1992, a bomb detonated at the HOS/HSP headquarters in the Croatian Defense Council (IRBC 1992; Milekić 2020). Furthermore, in August 1992, the Croatian Defense Council (HVO; *Hrvatsko vijeće obrane*) assassinated eight HOS fighters and their appointed commander for Bosnia, Blaž Kraljević (Ramet 2006: 343).

Additionally, the paramilitary officials were subject to various forms of political oppression, including trials initiated by the state authorities. After the fall of Vukovar, Paraga, vice-president Anto Djapić and HOS commander Mile Dedaković were charged with grand treason and plotting a coup d'état, as their statements implied. The prosecution alleged that the HSP planned to use the HOS to topple the government. Tudjman accused the militia of being manipulated by the Yugoslavian intelligence agency to overthrow the Croatian regime on national broadcasts (Ferguson 2020: 78). As a protest against the repression aimed at ultra-nationalists, HOS combatants and other opponents barricaded themselves inside a building in the Zagreb city center and took few hostages to express their discontent and strike against perceived injustice. Under pressure, Paraga ordered his loyalists to refrain from any violence. Eventually, the Supreme Judge closed the coup d'état case due to a lack of direct evidence (Veselinović 2014: 94; US GOV 1993). Furthermore, some of the trial statements made by HV officers revealed that the HOS soldiers on the front line were not given any directives by the HSP, and that the combatants primarily followed the commands of their HV superiors, with only a few minor deviations. Following the trial in November 1993, the military court in Zagreb declared the three men innocent. In the end, the prosecution processes demonstrated that HOS did not function as a rebel military entity, as the government tried to frame it. The opposition, impartial media,

and even the US government deemed the trials of the HSP/HOS officials to be politically motivated, as Zagreb saw the organization as an irritant and a potentially dangerous force to their fragile political milieu (Milekić 2020; US GOV 1993).

Amid the escalating tensions between Croats and Bosniaks, multiple points of contention emerged regarding the conduct of Muslims, who exhibited a sense of entitlement to power in BiH. Additionally, concerns were raised regarding the use of the HOS (where 1/3 of all members were Muslims before the relations broke down) to enforce their policies. The daily influx of new Muslim refugees into the region, along with the escalating presence of Muslim forces in various towns, was particularly apprehensive to Croat representatives. This unfolded while HVO forces were occupied with fortifying the front lines against the Bosnian Serb Army (BSA), compelling HVO military authorities to develop defensive strategies in anticipation of potential clashes with the Muslim population (Shrader 2003: 68).

Finally, as the conflict between Croats and Muslims unfolded, Paraga issued an order prohibiting his fighters from cooperating with the HVO against the Bosniaks. This announcement was met with great concern by President Tudjman and the Croatian government, as it threatened to create division and fragmentation within their military forces. To address this issue, Zagreb took decisive action, denouncing Paraga as a blatant Ustaša fascist and levying charges of terrorism against him, which led to another arrest (Bellamy 2003: 78).

Similar to the previous cases in Ukraine, the Colombian AUC showcased a consistent anticorruption stance. Through the implementation of armed clientelism, strong anti-corruption rhetoric, and effective administration, this paramilitary group was able to contest the official authorities and consequently solidify its control over crucial state institutions, such as healthcare and education. The commanders of the AUC justified their continued rule by arguing that their governance was more efficient and less corrupt than that of the traditional state elites (Tate 2018: 427-428, 437; Pécaut 1997: 151).

Another aspect worth considering amidst this chapter's contents is the challenging role played by the AUC in the government's peace processes with the rebel groups. The AUC, along with factions opposing the negotiations, strategically capitalized on President Andreas Pastrana's initiative to establish a demilitarized zone for the insurgents in late 2000. Seizing this opportunity, AUC forces swiftly entered the designated region and swiftly achieved significant victories over the guerrilla forces, thereby undermining the ongoing peace negotiations. These military triumphs not only posed a direct obstacle to the peace process but also had far-reaching consequences, leading to the eventual collapse of the negotiations by early 2002. Subsequently, the government's military operations against the insurgent groups were resumed (Kushner 2003: 385). The active role played by the AUC in this context illustrates their antagonistic stance towards the governmental attempts to settle peace with the rebels, despite their broader alignment with the ruling regime.

Moreover, the case of the AUC presents a unique and complex situation in comparison to previous cases in Ukraine and Croatia. This is due to the fact that a significant portion of the AUC's activities, funding, and connections were linked to highly organized crime, specifically the cocaine trade. While there were some criminal structures present in Ukraine, such as in the case of Right Sector, they were relatively insignificant and primarily engaged in smuggling and arming themselves with firearms. Therefore, these structures can be considered largely irrelevant in the context of their impact on politics and state-building.

While organized crime typically presents a conflicting relationship with a democratic state, the case of the AUC revealed a more nuanced dynamic;

The variable of organized crime within the AUC model is crucial for this research analysis as it played a significant role in shaping democracy, politics, and state-making in Colombia. For instance, a social network analysis study on the institutional impact of criminal networks in Colombia and Mexico concluded that co-opted state reconfiguration was highest in the case of the AUC. The group was described as a complete and multifaceted criminal army with the capability to exert influence and co-opt political figures and public institutions on a national scale (Garay-Salamanca et al. 2012: 192). Civico (2012) argues that the intertwining of the state and organized crime was not a sign of weakness but rather a display of the state's power and presence. This intricate relationship challenges conventional assumptions and underscores the complexity of the AUC's role in shaping the Colombian state, highlighting that the influence of organized crime can transcend traditional notions of conflict with democratic governance.

The final conflict between the state and the AUC emerged during the demobilization process, as discussed further in the third chapter. In this regard, the government eventually adopted a resolute stance by deciding to extradite certain former AUC commanders to the United States to be held accountable for their criminal activities

(Grajales 2017: 40). Nonetheless, as the evidence demonstrates, the points of contention between the AUC and the government were relatively insignificant when compared to situations such as the HOS in Croatia or the Right Sector in Ukraine. The government's main objective was primarily directed towards combating the leftist guerilla groups, namely FARC and ELN. Consequently, the AUC enjoyed a significant degree of latitude in various aspects that would have otherwise been considered unacceptable, including territorial control, involvement in organized crime, and infiltration of state institutions.

### Patronage Ties – Influential Representatives and Linkage to the Pro-State Militias

Arsen Avakov, the Minister of Internal Affairs in Ukraine, assumed a pivotal role in facilitating the convergence between militias and the state within Ukraine. This nexus encompassed various elements, including the establishment of legitimacy, the delegation of power to employ violence, the provision of funding mechanisms, and subsequent integration with state structures. Avakov's influential position solidified his widely recognized patronage, particularly in relation to the Azov Battalion (Kuzmenko 2018). Notably, amidst the initial outbreak of the conflict in 2014, a number of military leaders and influential politicians expressed opposition to the government's decision to confer authority upon these militias. Avakov, however, emerged as a steadfast supporter of volunteer battalions, actively advocating for their cause. As the Donbas conflict escalated, Kyiv deliberately elevated the levels of autonomy to these militias, enabling them to operate with a relative degree of independence from the state's monopoly on violence during the war against Eastern separatists and Russian forces (Bukkvoll 2019: 293, 302).

Consequently, due to Avakov's influential position within Ukraine's government, the rise of Azov to political prominence can be attributed to their alliance with him. Avakov offered support and permitted their operations in exchange for a certain level of allegiance. For instance, Andriy Biletskyy, Azov's leader, owed his first significant foray into politics to Avakov's backing, securing a single-mandate seat in Kyiv in 2014 (Colborne 2022: 83). Moreover, Avakov consistently protected Azov from information campaigns that aimed to discredit the unit's credibility through alleged spreading of Nazi ideology. He also praised unit's combat effectiveness and heroism in defending the state. It is noteworthy to mention that these proclamations were made even after Azov's incorporation into NGU as special operations forces unit (Kyiv Post 2019). For an earlier example, in an interview from 2014, Avakov asserted that the majority of the battalion's volunteers did not endorse any far-right ideology as he "...*spent many hours talking to the Azov fighters. There is no Nazism, no swastikas.*" Moreover, he also advocated for the political aspirations of some volunteer members; "*In the Verkhovna Rada, they can put pressure on politicians with their honesty and sincerity. Among them we will find future ministers of defense, internal affairs and so on.*" said Avakov (Golubov 2014). Including not only Azov, but also the UVC of Right Sector, Avakov's support for these (former) militias is regarded as the reason behind his capacity to maintain his ministerial role under Zelensky's administration until 2021 (Aliyev and Odin Shaw 2021: 12).

Nevertheless, aside from Avakov's enthusiastic patronage, during its early stages the Azov Battalion did not receive much of official recognition from the Ukrainian government. However, it garnered material and political support from various political and business elites who viewed it as a means to counter Russian aggression and protect their individual interests (Wood 2022: 123). Notably, there were claims that the battalion received financial support from prominent Ukrainian oligarchs, including Ihor Kolomoiskyy and Rinat Akhmetov (Aliyev 2022: 1377; Aliyev 2023).

Akhmetov, the wealthiest man in Ukraine, categorically denied financing the Azov Battalion and to a question about financing of other paramilitary groups, Akhmetov responded, "[...] we have been helping and continue to help the Ukrainian Army and Territorial Defence Forces." (RAI News 2022). However, reports indicate that Biletskyy, the former leader and founder of the Azov Battalion, established a security company composed of Azov veterans. These contractors, in exchange for funding the political party of National Corps, provided law enforcement and security services to business enterprises, particularly the Azovstal steel facilities located in Mariupol, which are owned by Akhmetov (Ostryakova 2018).

Regarding Kolomoiskyy, the oligarch, politician, and energy tycoon, his involvement during the outbreak of the war is alleged to have included facilitating and financing the supply of weapons to volunteer battalions, notably Azov, as well as providing financial incentives for recruits. Additionally, he reportedly offered militiamen a personal bounty of \$10,000 for the capture of each pro-Russian saboteur in contested territories around his enterprises in Dnitropetrovsk (Sharkov 2014; Luhn 2014). His actions arguably served to protect not only the integrity of Ukraine but also Kolomoiskyy's own

business interests. However, these activities attracted significant disdain, leading President Poroshenko to compel Kolomoiskyy to step down as the governor of Dnipropetrovsk after a standoff incident at the state-owned UkrTransNafta (Cohen 2015).

Another early sponsor of Azov, Serhiy Taruta, a businessman, politician, and "onetime oligarch," during his 2018 presidential campaign, replied that he is frequently seen as "[...] *a person who paid for defending Mariupol*." Consequently, in the interview, he quickly refuted any recent financial support provided to ultra-nationalist groups (Kovensky 2018).

Turning back to the nexus of state representatives and militias, Biletskyy wasn't the sole political adventurer from Azov's leadership circles. Other prominent figures from the Battalion have displayed a swift and enthusiastic interest in entering the realm of politics. For instance, during the intense fighting in Eastern Ukraine, a well-known deputy commander Ihor Mosiychuk left the battalion and embarked on the career of a full-time parliamentarian (Umland 2019: 121). Mosiychuk's departure was preceded by his Jewbaiting remarks towards Kolomoiskyy together with open disdain for "...oligarchs who turned the war into business [...] and who make their vile profit from the blood shed by our patriots." This in turn endangered financial flows to the Azov unit, threatened by Kolomoiskyy's aide Boris Filatov, who referred to Mosiychuk as a "...fascist bastard". Additionally, these frictions within patronage networks included Oleh Lyashko, a leader of the Radical Party, who endorsed and collaborated with the Azov. Lyashko stated that when confronted by Kolomoiskyy to align with him and cooperate under his patronage and to "...include his people on the list", he refused and was met with physical threats. Eventually, he parted ways with Azov due to animosity from its "sponsorship" and compared these methods to the one of Yanukovych, "...same eggs, different basket" said Lyashko on air on the Zik TV channel (Young 2022; Kalinin 2014).

Similarly, other individuals, such as former commanders Sergei Korotkikh and Colonel Vadim Troyan, capitalized on their previous roles in Azov and the advantages gained from it to successfully join the political circles and official security forces of the regime (Aliyev 2022: 1377). Korotkikh, a former citizen of Belarus with documented ties to the Russian neo-Nazi scene and associations with criminal prosecution for the ethnically motivated execution of Shamil Odamanov (Novaya Gazeta 2021), was granted Ukrainian citizenship by President Poroshenko in 2014 after joining the Azov forces to fight in Eastern Ukraine. Furthermore, following his military involvement in Azov and law enforcement units, Korotkikh was frequently associated with or present in circles related to the unresolved killings of various ex-combatants or journalists, such as Pavlo Sheremet, who was killed in a car explosion in Kyiv in 2016, or the camouflaged suicide of Azov fighter Yaroslav Babych in 2015 (Girin 2014; Kyiv Post 2021).

To put the previous introduction of Korotkikh into the broader context of this chapter, it is also widely recognized that Oleksandr Avakov, son of the aforementioned Interior Minister Arsen Avakov, is a close friend of Korotkikh. Moreover, Korotkikh, during his high-ranking position in the National Corps, was appointed by Arsen Avakov to lead the Ministry's Department for the Protection of Strategic Objects in 2015 (Furmanyuk 2017; Kuzmenko 2019). This is the same Korotkikh who confirmed his willingness to cooperate with a Russian law enforcement group in a 2021 video (Kyiv Post 2021).

Just as Umland (2019: 122-123) highlights, despite often questionable histories, some of Azov's prominent figures managed to transform themselves into relatively notable actors in Ukrainian society, spanning parliamentary activities, law enforcement services, mass communication, and political party involvement, all within six months, even though they were previously minor or even negligible socio-political entities and military men. For the purposes of my research, it is possible to interpret the outlined individual actions of Azov's leadership as an attempt to gain power and influence over the governmental order through political (and perhaps also business) means, rather than through the use of force, ideology, actions and the presence of their Azov paramilitary group. Scholarship and empirical evidence indicate here that the Azov Battalion, benefiting from its military successes, served as a stepping stone for gaining credibility, fame, and political influence. This foundation enabled its members to establish patronage ties and penetrate political structures (Umland 2019: 122; Fedorenko and Umland 2022; Colborne 2022). Overall, the remarkable and swift ascend of Azov can be attributed to two factors. Firstly, the leadership's eagerness to participate in conventional politics and secondly, the presence of structural opportunities within the state (Gomza and Zajaczkowski 2019: 774-776; Shekhovtsov 2014, 2022).

Apart from Azov, other paramilitary units often lacked adequate funding and political backing, leading them to readily accept the government's offer of integration. However, the Right Sector with UVC did not face this issue during 2014-15 due to sufficient private donations and interest from political and business figures. A former member explained that their leader, referred to as "*providnyk*" Dmytro Yarosh,

commanded significant fear and respect among politicians, with many members of parliament competing for his attention. Yarosh was a proficient fundraiser who cultivated close relationships with influential businessmen such as Gennady Butkevitch, Aleksandr Gerega, and Gennady Korban. Most notably, he also had mutual sympathies with Ihor Kolomoiskyy (Aliyev and Odin Shaw 2021: 12-13).

When interviewed in 2019 (Rudenko and Sarakhman 2019), Yarosh himself denied any affiliation between him, Right Sector and Kolomoiskyy's "project" of forging private armies. Yarosh stated: "It is all fiction [...]". He also denied any familiarity with Akhmetov, saying; "No, I've never seen him [...]". In response to the earlier mentioned funding of UVC by Kolomoiskyy's associates, including Korban or Filatov, Yarosh responded, "[...] they were directly responsible for our contracts [...] they provided only part of the necessary things that we received from different people." (Ukrainska Pravda 2019).

Without Yarosh's persuasive and captivating persona, which both attracted and potentially frightened influential figures in Ukraine, the Right Sector encountered difficulties in maintaining these networks after Yarosh departed from the organization and new leadership took on a more antagonistic stance towards Ukraine's government. It can be assumed that due to its increasingly radical politics, violent stand-offs, convergence with criminal elements, and inability to translate the legacy of Maidan heroes into electorate support, the Right Sector effectively disqualified itself from establishing any meaningful patronage networks that could help them acquire influence, resources and expand politically (Likhachev 2015).

In relation to Croatia, the existence of profound patronage ties between state officials and the HOS was practically non-existent, poorly documented, or largely inconsequential when compared to the extent observed in Ukraine and Colombia. This can be attributed to several factors. As discussed in the previous chapter, the HOS functioned as an armed militia associated with the HSP political party, which directly opposed and competed with Tudjman's government, albeit with limited strength. Even when a strong pro-state sentiment emphasizing independence, patriotism, and homeland defense prevailed, the relationship between government officials and militia leaders was characterized by antagonism, significantly impeding the development of a patronage networks for personal gains. Moreover, historical evidence reveals that the independent military units of the HOS had a transient existence, mainly active during the years 1991-1992 (Ferguson 2020). These units were swiftly and forcefully integrated into the Croatian Army, and in the case of Bosnia, into the HVO a few months later (Shrader 2003: 46). Considering this, it is reasonable to assume that individual state representatives lacked incentives to exploit the HOS for personal objectives. Firstly, as previously mentioned, the successful centralization of power structures within the HVO minimized such opportunities. Additionally, the prosecution or assassination of many key individuals associated with the HOS, often by the government, significantly diminished the desirability for statesmen to intertwine their interests with those of the HOS (Lekić 1991; Milekić 2020; Ramet 2006; Shrader 2003).

Despite the aforementioned factors, there were instances in which certain commanders within the HOS persisted in their activities and assumed commanding positions in the HVO or parliament, indicating a potential association with the state apparatus. Consequently, some of these commanders also ventured into Croatian politics or business circles.

For instance, Ante Prkačin emerged as a leader within the HOS, holding the rank of general during the Bosnian War in 1992. After the dissolution of the HOS, Prkačin continued to serve as an officer within the HVO. Notably, Prkačin even ran for the presidential office in 2000 (Hrvatska Radiotelevizija 2000). Moreover, in 2020 Prkačin succeeded in securing a parliamentary mandate as an independent candidate, actively participating in the Agriculture Committee and representing the delegation to the NATO Parliamentary Assembly (Sabor.HR 2023).

Another example is Marko Skejo, who led the 9th battalion "Rafael Vitez Boban" within the HOS. Skejo remained an active member of the far-right party HČSP, founded in 1992, and also engaged in entrepreneurial pursuits with his quarry companies. In 2012, he incurred a debt of HRK 12 million to the Croatian government while simultaneously maintaining business connections with Radimir Čačić, who served as the Deputy Prime Minister at that time (Danas.HR 2017; Polšak Palatinuš 2017).

Furthermore, Valentin Rajković, the commander of the 19th Battalion "Vitez Jure Francetić," later found employment with the Ministry of Internal Affairs. However, Rajković faced accusations and subsequent sentencing of 3 years for abusing his position to forge visas. Despite this, Rajković received state commendations and even secured a place on the audience list with the Pope, allegedly due to his association with Jadranka Kosor, who served as the Prime Minister at the time and had a familial connection to Rajković, who is a godfather to her child (Borovac, Popović, and Moskaljov 2010).

It is evident that certain ex-commanders from HOS were able to establish connections with the state, albeit long after the dissolution of the militia and the conclusion of the war. The presence of subtle patronage ties, particularly in relation to war veterans and political nepotism, persists to this day. Nevertheless, these are largely irrelevant as none of these existed or were observed during the peak of HOS's activity in 1991-1992.

In contrast to the previous cases in Ukraine and Croatia, AUC did not have any official political wing involved in electoral processes, nor was it directly involved in Colombian politics. Nevertheless, the existence of a powerful right-wing paramilitary group with deep ties to politicians, military forces, and the business sector undoubtedly exerted influence on political dynamics, decision-making, and statesmanship throughout AUC's existence. Although the AUC consistently received backing and financial support from local communities, influential elites, and political figures who required protection from insurgent factions, over 70% of its operations were allegedly funded through cocainerelated business (Colombia Reports 2016). This suggests that the AUC was not dependent on the finances of its patronage networks but rather on the power it wielded through violence, impunity for its actions, and the leeway it enjoyed in the political system due to them (Civico 2012). Moreover, the group interfered with local electoral outcomes, which is a classic manifestation of clientelism that has been augmented by the involvement of new actors, namely illegal armed groups. Subsequently, to garner the support of lower-class voters in rural areas, AUC's chosen representatives used the tit-for-tat method, promising material gains in exchange for electoral votes. (Tate 2018: 427-428, 437; Pécaut 1997: 151).

In the case of Colombia, Curry and De Vries (2020) suggest that the AUC, with the support of the army and local and national politicians, were deeply involved with the establishment while concurrently accusing them of neglecting their responsibilities (Medina Gallego 1990: 185, 197-198). The AUC contributed to the complex and multifaceted neoliberal transformation, while also providing significant support in combating rebel insurgents who posed a threat to the Colombian population and challenged the established government. However, it is important to note that the AUC also played a role in prolonging the conflict, driven by the vested interests of its officials who desired the

50

continuation of the war. (Avilés 2006; Kushner 2003; Curry and De Vries 2020)

The AUC was initially established with the explicit objective of safeguarding the economic interests of its supporters, including members of the local community, political elites, and influential figures (Global Security 2023). Certain individuals within the AUC, such as Carlos Castaño, aimed to acquire influence and recognition in Colombian politics. Nevertheless, this goal contradicted the resolution of the armed conflict, which was favored by a significant number of AUC members, including the co-leader and his brother, Vicente Castaño (Rabasa and Chalk 2001).

What truly stands out in the Colombian case is the scale and depth the militia-state patronage nexus went through. A large portion of these connections was unraveled during the demobilization processes, which were marred by dubious practices, as paramilitaries sought to avoid punishment for their crimes. President Uribe's simultaneous willingness to grant them immunity faced opposition from human rights advocates, the constitutional court, and even the United States government. The negotiations with the paramilitaries exposed a phenomenon labeled as "parapolitics." This term describes the extensive network of illicit agreements between AUC leaders and members of Colombia's political elite at various levels (Schultze-Kraft 2018: 486; Civico 2012: 80). The Parapolitics scandal is another perplexing illustration of how deeply the criminal nature of the AUC was intertwined with the Colombian state, forging vast amount of patronage networks, protectionism deals and so forth, as the scandal revealed the collusion of many Colombian politicians and public officials with the paramilitaries. The investigation revealed that politicians had received campaign contributions, votes, and even direct support from the AUC in exchange for political favors and protection (see López and Sevillano 2008; Romero 2007).

In 2011, at least 103 current and past local officials who were elected to office between 1997 and 2010 were being investigated for receiving support from the AUC. According to Nuevo Arco Iris, a Colombian research organization, the AUC was involved in the selection of at least nine governors, 251 mayors, and over 4,000 council members in 2003 alone (Pachico 2011). Due to the parapolitics scandal, numerous politicians, including dozens of congressmen, five governors, and other lawmakers, were arrested and sentenced to prison for their involvement (Alsema 2012a). This scandal resulted in a significant loss of public trust in Colombia's political institutions, underscoring the country's ongoing struggle with corruption and political violence. Moreover, it weakened President Uribe's position concerning attempts to secure a free trade agreement and military aid from the US (Reuters 2007).

Turning back to the business ventures of the AUC, it is essential to note that during the AUC's tenure, Colombia experienced a substantial political and economic transformation, marked by the robust implementation of neoliberal policies. These policies were promoted, facilitated, and endorsed by the country's elites, politicians, and even corporations. The AUC arguably played a pivotal role in safeguarding and enforcing these policies, which included land reforms and other legislative measures (Avilés 2006: 387-389).

Some testimonies suggest that paramilitary leaders aimed to settle conquered, previously contested, areas with former militiamen and use the land investment for moneylaundering purposes. Vicente Castaño, the AUC's finance leader, played a crucial role in this strategy. He sought support from the state and aligned his economic development vision with official discourse. Castaño believed that by bringing in wealthy businessmen, state institutions would follow. The assumption he made was somewhat accurate. Castaño's goal was to establish a palm oil industry in Uraba that would attract these investors to durable and productive projects. And indeed, in 1999, Vicente Castaño founded Urapalma, the initial palm company in Lower Atrato. His acquaintances and family controlled the company's directorial board, as reported by El Espectador in 2010. Castaño's role in palm business development highlights the extent of his and the AUC's influence in this regard (Grajales 2013: 221-222).

# Security and Integration with State Elements– Maintaining Independence or Losing Autonomy?

As Tor Bukkvoll (2019: 299) states, during the initial stages of the conflict in 2014 and especially after annexation of Crimea by Russia, it became more and more apparent that heavily undermanned and disorganized Ukrainian forces would not be sufficient for Ukrainian leadership to conduct any successful strategy of countering the armed revolt outbreak in eastern parts of Ukraine (Fionik 2015). For example, the vice-minister of Interior Affairs Anton Heraschenko at that time proclaimed that Ukrainian army was inconsistent and therefore the state had no other choice but to rely on private actors

(Hladka et al. 2016: 146).

According to Ilmari Käihkö, the Azov Battalion formed part of a greater national effort to safeguard the state. The militias resorted to tactics that exacerbated the conflict in Donbas, thereby compelling the Ukrainian state to take action rather than adopting a passive stance, as it did in the case of Crimea (Käihkö 2018: 1, 7-8). Furthermore, militias frequently engaged in combat operations in locations where conventional regime forces had been unsuccessful, demonstrating a remarkable level of morale and steadfastness in their commitment to safeguarding the homeland (Malyarenko and Galbreath 2016: 116). Consequently, as one of the results of PSMs adamant determination to protect Ukraine, the government and its regular military forces were compelled to grant a greater level of independence to the volunteer battalions in terms of commanding and coordinating operations than they would have preferred under normal circumstances. This outcome played a crucial role in safeguarding the territorial integrity and political autonomy of Ukraine during the conflict period of 2014-2015 (Bukkvoll 2019).

According to Malyarenko and Galbreath (2015: 123), the Ukrainian government provided informal support to Azov and other battalions at the outset, while maintaining formal detachment from their operations. This enabled the regime to retain some measure of control over their actions, with the ability to offer approval or reprimand in cases of war crimes. Furthermore, Azov's actual operations on the eastern front, in addition to their interactions with the Ukrainian government, civilians, and supporters, were not particularly distinctive compared to the actions of other non-ideology (far-right) infused PSMs (Malyarenko and Galbreath 2015: 121). Promptly, the political leadership in Ukraine adopted a strategy to assimilate voluntary battalions into its authorized military institutions, such as the NGU. This approach was also applied to the Azov Battalion. Even though the Ukrainian authorities proclaimed that the battalion was fully integrated into conventional armed units, it still sustained a significant degree of autonomy, despite being theoretically subordinate to official structures. The primary reason for this was that the militia was selffunded, as it received financial support from outside sources (Wood 2022: 123), and it had its own mechanism for recruiting members. Although the majority of the battalion's heavy weaponry was still obtained from official sources, the militia's self-sufficiency enabled it to operate with relative independence (Bukkvoll 2019: 305).

On 17th September 2014, the Azov Battalion underwent a restructuring, and was elevated from a battalion to a regiment. Subsequently, on 11th November, the regiment

was formally incorporated into the NGU by minister of the internal affairs Arsen Avakov (Unian 2016; MMO 2022; Ukrainska Pravda 2014). This was a significant aspect of the broader policy modifications implemented by the Ukrainian administration, aimed at integrating the self-reliant volunteer battalions into either the Ukrainian Ground Forces or the NGU, thereby establishing a formal chain-of-command within the Anti-Terrorist Operation (Puglisi 2015).

The integration of the Azov Battalion into state structures under the National Guard in 2014 marked a formal association between the militia and the regime. However, it is evident that the Azov militia, along with its subsequent political wing, did not completely come under the unified command and control of the regime, both in terms of politics and military operations. Prior to securing a parliamentary seat in 2014, Biletskyy, a key figure in the Azov entity, expressed his ambition to establish a substantial youth movement established around the militia. This movement, as he envisioned, would extend beyond the Azov Battalion, encompassing various activities such as patriotic education (Colborne 2022: 35). Consequently, the Azov Civil Corps, a political and social movement, emerged in 2015, organizing marches, protests, and engaging in confrontations with anti-fascist demonstrations. In 2016, the Azov Civil Corps transformed into the National Corps political party. Despite their shared origins, it is argued that the Azov Battalion/Regiment and the Azov movement are separate entities (Likhachev 2022a; Laryš 2022: 498). The paramilitary underwent a process of de-politicization during the years 2015-2016, leading to increased autonomy from the political movement. As a result, the Azov movement lost its influence over the military unit (Shekhovtsov 2022).

In 2017, the Azov movement established the National Brigade, a paramilitary group aimed at assisting law enforcement agencies in Ukraine. However, it is important to note that this vigilante-like force was associated with the Azov movement, rather than the Azov Regiment. The National Brigade ceased its activities in 2020 and was succeeded by an organization known as Centuria. Therefore, it is crucial to underscore that the Azov entity comprises two distinct lines: The Azov Battalion/Regiment as a military unit integrated into the National Guard and a political movement with its roots in Azov. These two lines, while originating from the same source, operated with increasing autonomy from one another, culminating in the establishment of separate organizations and objectives (Likhachev 2022; Colborne 2022: 68). However, unlike Azov, Right Sector with its UVC and later also with Ukraine Volunteer Army (UVA; *Ukrayins'ka dobrovol'cha armiya*) resisted integration attempts by the Ukrainian government for an extended period. The group has acted as a conventional prostate paramilitary organization during the civil war to protect the state's interests, the UVC/UVA has also maintained a strong level of criticism, and at times, hostility towards various Ukrainian governments throughout its history (Aliyev and Odin Shaw 2021: 8).

As Ukrainian government emphasized the strategy of incorporating all volunteer battalions into various official structures and subordinating them under unified commands. In September 2014, with the Minsk I ceasefire agreements, the Ukrainian government initiated the formal establishment of these battalions (Bulakh et al. 2017). However, Right Sector with UVC proved to be an exceptional case as the battalion persistently refused all government attempts to formalize them, while all other relevant non-official military groups were either integrated into the Ministry of Interior troops (including NGU) or the Armed Forces of Ukraine (Aliyev and Odin Shaw 2021: 12). On October 21, 2015, UVC was recognized as a legal entity and registered as a non-governmental organization (NGO). Its status as an NGO was confirmed on November 9, 2018, according to the Unified Registry of NGOs. According to official sources of Right Sector webpage, UVC's objective is to liberate Ukraine from Kremlin influence and rid the Ukrainian government of internal oligarchic control (Zabyelina 2019: 286; Pravyi Sektor 2023).

Nonetheless, as recognized by Käihkö (2018), even though the Ukrainian government pushed for the integration strategy, it was fully aware of some benefits from Right Sector's stubbornness. Ukrainian policymakers acknowledged that Right Sector's deniability afforded their military actions in the east greater freedom of action. Moreover, militia's activities could draw fire and attention away from other sections of the front line. Additionally, the group's casualties would not be reflected in official figures, potentially avoiding some political problems and negative public discourse (Käihkö 2018: 16).

As Right Sector units did not integrate into state security forces, they became the go-to choice for focusing on fighting instead of bureaucracy, attracting some former members of other volunteer groups (ibid. 9) Nevertheless, Kyiv recognized the potential dangers of failing to integrate paramilitary fighters into state structures and has been implementing additional measures to legitimize voluntary battalions and bring them under its control. It became increasingly evident that as time passed, unregulated armed groups, regardless of their motives, posed a greater risk of their commanders abusing their

authority for personal or political gain (Zabyelina 2019: 287). On the contrary, the militia consistently demonstrated a willingness to collaborate with the state in instances when national stability and integrity were at risk; "[...] *attempts by anti-state formations to destabilize the situation in the state*, [...] *we are ready to use all available forces and means to help state law enforcement agencies in suppressing the anti-Ukrainian rebellion* [...]", said Yarosh in 2021 as a response to pro-Russian rallies (Focus.UA 2021).

President Poroshenko made efforts over a long period to demobilize Right Sector's UVC, including campaigns to integrate combatants from Right Sector into Ukraine's army, but the results were disappointing. It was not until September 2019, during President Zelenskyy's term, that he reportedly negotiated a deal with UVC's patron Kolomoiskyy to disarm and demobilize the last UVC unit and withdraw them from Donbas (Aliyev and Odin Shaw 2021: 13, 15).

One final matter on which the ultranationalist UVC/UVA had some impact was national security as a whole. Despite significant military reforms during that time, conscription numbers were surprisingly low. As a result, the government saw the paramilitaries as skilled military forces that could be quickly deployed in the event of a major conflict with Russia, simply by appealing to them and emphasizing nationalist ideologies (Aliyev and Odin Shaw 2021: 16). This aspect of the Right Sector's militia provided the government with a highly experienced combat-ready force and can be considered a positive convergence between the militia and the element of state security.

As for the Croatian model, the HOS with Paraga contributed to the initial collaboration with Muslim population in Bosnia and Herzegovina against Serbs. It is estimated that up to 30 percent of HOS members were Muslim. While the cooperation between far-right forces and Bosniak Muslims may seem illogical, this phenomenon had already been embedded in the past. In World War II, Muslims played a role in the military operations that carried out the indiscriminate killing of Serbs in Croatia's expanded wartime territories. These territories extended southward through portions of Herzegovina and towards the Drina. (Ferguson 2020: 80). At the onset of the conflict in Croatia, Paraga declared that BiH and Croatia share the same land, ancestry, and nationality and should merge into a single state. He considered any present discrepancies between Croats and Muslims as superficial, constructed by the Serbs and the communists, and likely to dissolve in due course (Irvine 1997: 36). In 1992, Paraga wrote a letter to HOS's mayor Darko Kraljević, emphasizing

the importance of unity between the Croat and Muslim people, and rejecting any policy that would lead to the division of Herzeg-Bosnia and the creation of a new Serbian state. He stated that such a policy would be disastrous for both Croat and Muslim people, and reiterated his commitment to a united Bosnia and Herzegovina, including Croatia up to the Drina river (Marijan 2004: 270).

In a similar manner, there were multiple attempts by the Croatian government and Bosniaks to establish a mutually beneficial and constructive relationship in fighting against the Serbs in contested areas. While the HOS may have appeared to play a supportive role in this regime policy stance, it is believed that this support a form of legacy from the Independent State of Croatia rather than a genuine socio-political attitude. This is illustrated by the fact that the HOS did not operate cohesively throughout the entire region of Bosnia and Herzegovina. Specifically, in the Mostar area, the HOS had a poor relationship with the HVO but was supportive of the BiH army until the death of their commander. On the other hand, towards the end of June 1992, the Zenica Sector of the State Security Service viewed the HOS as an agent of the HVO in the Novi Travnik area because the HOS had sided with the HVO during a conflict that occurred on June 19, 1992 (Marijan 2004: 269-270).

Therefore, while the HOS initially contributed to the collaboration with Muslims against Serbs, its impact on the state security of Croatia at that time was mixed. It showcased internal divisions and its support for collaboration was seen as more aligned with historical legacies than a genuine commitment to a united Bosnia and Herzegovina.

During the conflict in Croatia, the strained relationship between Bosniaks and Croats engaged in combat against Serbs led to significant consequences. As the situation became increasingly tense, Dobroslav Paraga, the leader of the HSP, instructed his combatants not to cooperate with the HVO in their actions against the Bosniaks. This decision triggered a chain of events, prompting President Franjo Tudjman to enact a conscription law in 1993, compelling all service-ready Croat males to join the HVO (Bellamy 2003: 78). Simultaneously, there was a concerted effort to integrate various paramilitary groups, including the HOS, into the HVO's unified command structure. To consolidate control and restore order, local municipalities were directed to seize the arms of irregular forces, adopting a range of approaches, such as disbanding them, negotiating their disbandment, or resorting to more extreme measures, including lethal force (Ferguson 2015: 91). These developments exemplify the intricate dynamics and strategies employed

during the conflict in Croatia, where political decisions, conscription laws, and the consolidation of armed groups were intricately intertwined in the pursuit of stability and control.

Returning to the criticism directed at Tudjman's government and the deteriorated relationship between the HOS and Tudjman following the fall of Vukovar, as well as Paraga's order of disobedience regarding HOS cooperation with the HVO against Bosniaks, two notable consequences emerged regarding Croatian state security during that time period. Regarding the first issue, which has already been discussed, the government's hostile reactions towards the HOS indicated that Tudjman was primarily concerned about the political risks posed by the HOS to his own power and influence, rather than the presence of irregular armed groups within Croatia (Ferguson 2020: 78). The latter situation, however, posed a threat to division and fragmentation between the irregular armed forces and the official Croatian military forces in Bosnia and Herzegovina.

Although the armed militia proved useful in the ongoing war with Yugoslavia, Tudjman took decisive steps to justify the forced incorporation of the HOS into the official military structure. Unsurprisingly, this move did not generate any significant backlash or outrage. Empirical evidence suggests that many combatants were more concerned with Croatian independence than the loud political criticism of espoused by Paraga and others (Ferguson 2020; Bellamy 2003).

The Colombian case exhibited a complex and dynamic set of relationships in which the state was not absent or failing, but rather an integral part of a domain where various claims to legitimacy and identity were contested. In contrast, the AUC employed state failure as a tactic to justify their valid existence while working in tandem with the state, particularly the army (Medina Gallego 1990: 170-172, 178-180).

In reality, this meant that during President Alvaro Uribe's Democratic Security Policy against rebelling guerrillas the army and police forces were supported by the AUC. The AUC played a crucial role in providing military assistance to the state, which enabled it to expel the guerrillas, or noncompliant locals, from the contested territories. Moreover, the state utilized violent governance, primarily through the AUC, to safeguard its resources and prevent possible contention from other actors. This approach allowed the state to extend the neoliberal transformation to other areas while enjoying violent governance by paramilitaries to maintain control (Curry and De Vries 2020: 274-275). In practice, this meant that the land, which was subject to frequent displacement of local populations through violent means, was subsequently made available for purchase by local companies and international corporations, often specializing in monoculture agriculture aimed at foreign markets. Another aspect of this neoliberal conditioning and strengthening was the fact that businesses have employed the AUC to protect their often newly acquired territories against guerrilla forces and maintain order among their labor force, thereby avoiding work stoppages and suppressing requests for better wages and benefits. For instance, banana companies operating in the Urabá area, including prominent global enterprises like Chiquita, provided remuneration to paramilitaries based on the number of banana crates delivered as compensation for their services (Curry and De Vries 2020: 273-274; Gentile 2008; El Espectador 2008; Lobe and Muscara 2011).

Under Carlos Castaño, it became explicit that the organization played a significant role in preventing government failure, as claimed by Castaño himself (Wilson 2001; Aranguren Molina 2001: 261–263). The AUC portrayed itself as a protector of the state and aimed to reinstate its functions. The group justified its existence based on anti-subversive principles, assisting the state in regaining control of its territory. This included the military, which, according to the AUC leadership, had not fulfilled its institutional duty to protect Colombians' lives, property, and honor. Therefore, the AUC considered it their patriotic duty to perform tasks that the military was unwilling or unable to do (Curry and De Vries 2020: 272).

As for the dissolution attempts of the AUC, the initial disarmament, demobilization, and reintegration (DDR) process can be traced back to Medellín, where over 850 members of the *Bloque Cacique Nutibara* (BCN) were demobilized in November 2003. This was achieved through the cooperation of the BCN leadership, the city mayor, and government officials under Uribe's administration. However, this case revealed significant flaws in the process. While the Colombian government was eager to demonstrate action, it was not fully prepared for the DDR process. The city mayor was primarily focused on promoting his newly established peace and reconciliation program (ICG 2004: 11). Moreover, the government's efforts to demobilize paramilitaries between 2004 and 2006 had limited success in preventing the resurgence of criminal and neo-paramilitary groups throughout the country. President Uribe's focus was primarily on dismantling the overt military apparatus of these groups, neglecting their powerful criminal networks. This approach lacked attention to the strength and scope of influence of these

networks (ICG 2006).

This particular case of demobilization was shortsighted, with inadequate attention given to the thorough identification of paramilitaries. A report showed that only 30% of the 855 members who surrendered their weapons were genuine paramilitaries, with the majority belonging to criminal bands and local gangs operating in the area. This also included the poor, who were lured by the material and work opportunities promised by the reintegration program, as well as the appealing promises of pardoning criminal offenses related to paramilitaries, which was seen as an opportunity for crime laundering (Porch and Rasmussen 2008: 529). In addition, there were further issues uncovered. A study exposed a commonly known public secret of collusion and conspiracy between the police forces and ex-paramilitaries in the city. These militias frequently assisted the police in cleaning up the streets of petty criminals or drug addicts. This indicates that the DDR process merely resulted in pushing the paramilitaries further into the role of vigilantes who collude with legitimate actors (law enforcement) in resolving local issues (Civico 2012: 78). Demobilized paramilitaries still controlled city neighborhoods, with other unresolved key problems including drug income, connections with non-demobilized AUC members, and reparations for past crimes' victims (ICG 2004).

The evidence presented in the case of Medellín's DDR supports the notion that these paramilitary groups frequently assisted law enforcement in cleansing the streets of petty criminals and drug addicts. This observation indicates that the deconstruction process of the AUC entrenched the paramilitaries in the role of vigilantes, engaging in collaborative efforts with authorized entities like the police to tackle local issues (Civico 2012: 78).

According to Aldo Civico's (2012) case study on the modes of policing in Medellin, the dynamics between the AUC and the Colombian government, as well as the government's stance towards this paramilitary group, suggest that the collusion between both entities showcased the state's ability to exert control and authority. Civico argues that the intertwining of the state, paramilitaries and organized crime was not a sign of weakness but rather a display of the state's power and presence. Therefore, the AUC was a component of a power alliance with the state's machinery of capture, which the government obtained as a war mechanism and subjected to its political objectives, philosophy, and direct objective of war (Civico 2012: 77).

In the light of the AUC's demise, it is also important to highlight the internal

friction, feuding, instability, and fragmentation trend after the US designated the paramilitary in 2001 as a terrorist organization (Bejarano 2003: 236; Kushner 2003: 385). This dramatic policy change had far-reaching consequences. Leaders of the paramilitary group started to target each other, whereas certain members, including leader Carlos Castaño, implied that they could collaborate with the Bush administration and divulge the inner workings of the group (Sherman 2015: 459). Carlos Castaño was assassinated in 2004, and the murder prompted a significant amount of speculation regarding the perpetrators, with some attributing blame to Uribe's regime, while others posited that the act was a result of internal conflict, potentially involving Castaño's younger brother Vicente (Alsema 2012b; Colombia Reports 2016; BBC 2011).

A new leader took Castaño's place. Salvatore Mancuso shifted the group's agenda to negotiating a peace agreement with the Colombian government, with the willingness to demobilize the paramilitary group. This shift in strategy meant that the AUC began to engage in national-level talks with the government. Notwithstanding, the main conditions emphasized by Mancuso mainly centered around the avoidance of incarceration for committing war crimes and the non-extradition of its leaders to the United States due to the drug trade (ICG 2004: 6-10). The next stage of the demobilization process involved the introduction of the Justice and Peace Law, which was enacted in 2005. The law served as a legal facade for the earlier negotiations between the AUC and President Uribe, who declared it as a crucial step towards achieving peace in the ongoing civil war. However, the reality was reminiscent of the case described earlier in Medellín. The AUC members received inadequate sentences; the legislation failed to dismantle the organization's infrastructure; and profits generated from criminal activities such as drug trafficking and kidnapping were largely unaffected. Furthermore, much like in Medellín, certain violent criminals joined the AUC, taking advantage of the DDR process to evade proper justice (Goffman 2005: 49-50).

In 2006, the official demobilization negotiations concluded, and despite claims that the AUC had completed the process, the exact count of demobilized fighters varied significantly. Optimistic estimates put the number of disarmed and demobilized combatants at around 30,000; however, the actual numbers were subject to much debate and fluctuation (Porch and Rasmussen 2008; HRW 2010; Nussio 2011).

Even after the extradition of some AUC leaders to the US in 2008 to face justice (Grajales 2017: 40), the observed demobilization process and empirical evidence suggest

that while the unified behemoth of paramilitaries under the AUC flag disappeared, little was done to actually destroy the roots and causes of the phenomenon as armed non-state actors continue to exist. With the civil war still unresolved, other right-wing militias have come into existence, such as *The Gaitanistas* or The Popular Revolutionary Anti-Terrorist Army of Colombia (InsightCrime 2017, 2022). An analysis conducted in 2021 concluded that the right-wing paramilitaries had been demobilized, but were still far from being disarmed (Gorder 2021). These paramilitaries continue to operate much like the AUC did in the past, but they lack the centralized structure and strong ideological base of their predecessors. These armed groups are widely referred to in Colombia as BACRIMS (*bandas criminales emergentes*). Others view it simply as the re-paramilitarization of the country (Porch and Rasmussen 2008: 530; Sherman 2015: 460).

In summary, the Colombian AUC exhibited a notably high level of autonomy from the state compared to other observed cases. Not only was there a significant delegation of violence, as evidenced by numerous instances of the official army assigning acts of physical aggression against insurgents and rebellion supporters (UCDP 2023), but the AUC was also acknowledged as the so-called sixth division of the Colombian army, owing to its extensive connections and collaboration against mutual hostile forces (Mariner and Smart 2001). Ironically, among the analyzed cases, the AUC stood as the only illegal organization and was even designated as a terrorist group by external actors such as the USA (US.GOV 2007). Throughout its existence, the AUC functioned as an unlawful armed group, aligning with the consistent trend in the conceptual framework and theoretical assumptions that pro-state militias gradually relinquish their autonomy as they gain legitimacy and subsequently integrate into official structures. However, the AUC's case differed significantly as the process concluded primarily with demobilization and disarmament, with minimal integration taking place. As demonstrated in the previous paragraph, individuals instead continued their involvement in other illegal armed successor groups operating beyond the boundaries of the legal framework.

#### Ideological Influence, Societal Acceptance and Resilience of the State

The Azov Battalion garnered considerable national and global acclaim through its

instrumental role in recapturing and defending the city of Mariupol against separatist forces in 2014. This victory represented a pivotal moment in the organization's trajectory, solidifying its status as a proficient and efficient military unit while also winning hearts and minds of Ukrainians (MMO 2022).

Interior Minister Arsen Avakov admitted that he and several other political figures had reservations about the volunteer movement, especially the Azov Battalion. As evidenced, some members of this unit held extreme right-wing views and religious beliefs, making them a cause for concern. Nonetheless, Avakov believed that it was better to let them fight for their country than to engage in any destructive behavior without higher motives (Hladka et al. 2016, 431). Moreover, the basis of political agenda of the Azov Battalion aligned with the government's goal of preserving the nation's integrity amid the threat of further territorial loss and Russian-backed separatism in the east (Bukkvoll 2019: 302).

Umland (2019: 122-123) also argues that Azov Battalion's leaders saw themselves as the vanguard of a new Ukrainian nationalist movement. They perceived themselves as the defenders of Ukrainian sovereignty and identity against Russian aggression and what they saw as the corrupt and weak political establishment in Kyiv.

As for the further political endeavors, the Azov Civil Corps, a group consisting of former fighters from the Azov Regiment, evolved into a political movement and eventually a political party called the National Corps in 2016. This transition granted them a certain level of credibility by presenting them as protectors of the Ukrainian nation (Laryš 2022: 487).

Morever, Colborne (2022: 109) adds that to this day, Azov movement shapes its political discourse around patriotic words like "veteran" or "volunteers", continuously framing themselves as long-standing defenders of the nation. As a result, the Azov Battalion's foray into politics may represent a calculated attempt to expand their influence and spread their ideology through more conventional political means. Gomza and Zajaczkowzski (2019: 775) illustrate this by highlighting that the group has transformed from a volunteer combat unit to a political faction having delegates in both regional councils and the national parliament. Nonetheless, Azov Battalion as defined through earlier framework of PGP, despite its far-right members and ideology, seems to have little impact on the political system in this case. Nonetheless, the Ukrainian government's strategy to integrate the Azov Battalion into its official military structures while leaving the

regiment a degree of autonomy and providing political opportunities for its far-right founders indicates that its organizational structures, military ethos, and ideology continue to exist within Ukraine's political space.

Right Sector's UVC/UVA had a significant reliance on their popularity. A sociological study conducted in December 2014 revealed that over 30% (over 50% in the west) of the Ukrainian public perceived volunteer battalions as the "military-patriotic elite". Merely 10% perceived them as a potential threat to the government. The same study found that the volunteer battalions received 7.3 points out of 10 in terms of public trust. This is in contrast to the government and official security services, which received 4.5 and 3.8 points, respectively (Aliyev 2016: 13). The sentiment of having the highest trust among all institutions was confirmed again in 2020 (Kyiv Post 2020). Despite President Zelensky's open disdain for paramilitaries, he was aware that a violent crackdown on these groups might have further undermined his fragile authority among the security forces. The ultranationalists, particularly those associated with Right Sector, remained untouchable, with any attempt to outlaw them likely causing significant unrest among other paramilitary groups, ultranationalist political organizations, army veterans, and the general public. These people still considered UVC/UVA to be war heroes. An anonymous investigative journalist has stated that the government feared touching ultranationalist groups, as he believed it could lead to a devastating civil war worse than that in Donbas (Aliyev and Odin Shaw 2021: 14-15).

Regarding the aforementioned, the popular support enjoyed by the armed segments of Right Sector and other similar groups effectively constrained the Ukrainian government's attempts to take serious action against them. It was apparent that the Ukrainian regime recognized the fragmentation of its monopoly on violence in Donbas and other regions of Ukraine. However, addressing the role of paramilitary groups was not a top priority, and it may have been even dangerous at the time for the reasons described.

After forming the UVC (later UVA), the first notable venture of Right Sector into the post-Maidan politics can be marked with Yarosh's appearing as the unofficial contender for presidency from the recently registered Right Sector party, which was formed on March 22, 2014. Although he officially ran as an independent candidate, Yarosh unmistakably embodied his political group. Despite this, Yarosh's bid for the presidency only yielded a mere 0.7% of the votes during the elections held on May 25, 2014 (Fedorenko and Umland 2022: 240). On the day of the presidential elections, Yarosh vehemently declared that he and his party would push for an early parliamentary election in autumn. He further stated that Right Sector would participate in this "reloading of power" (Kyiv Post 2014). Although the parliamentary elections were in fact held on October 25th of that year, the Right Sector only managed to secure a mere 1.8% of the vote. Nevertheless, Yarosh still managed to secure a place in parliament as the sole representative of Right Sector, achieving this feat by winning the single-member district in his home region (Fedorenko and Umland 2022: 240; Puglisi 2015: 8).

In the aftermath of the 2014 revolution, Right Sector appeared to be the primary rallying force for Ukraine's far right politics. However, as outlined above, Right Sector failed to live up to the expectations. The outcome of the 2014 elections indicates a clear failure on the part of Right Sector to assume a meaningful role in electoral politics. This was further evidenced by the similar outcome of the 2019 parliamentary elections, in which Right Sector joined a united radical right nationwide-party list with National Corps, Svoboda, and Yarosh's Governmental Initiative (Glavkom 2019; UKRinform 2019). Unlike Azov, Right Sector opted for a confrontational approach instead of working with the authorities in Kyiv after the Maidan. This decision ultimately led to Right Sector's decline. By 2015, it had become a fragmented and collapsing movement (Colborne 2022: 78). According to Gomza and Zajaczkowski (2019: 782), Right Sector's decisions were characterized by a lack of pragmatism, as they prioritized their ideological reservations visà-vis political system. Likhachev (2015: 270) goes even further and argues that Right Sector's collapse was a result of a combination of its far-right ideology and Yarosh's inability to translate initial popular support into political success. Furthermore, he suggests that the primary driving force behind ultra-nationalism in Ukraine's political landscape has been and continues to be the Russian aggression and threat to Ukraine's sovereignty. The violent and extremist actions of the far-right during and after Maidan, including provocative behavior, anti-Semitism, populism, and a failure to advocate for Ukrainian national interests, caused the collapse of political popularity and disqualification of the Right Sector as a political force (Hurska 2016: 4-5).

The prevailing view among experts on the Ukrainian far right is that the Right Sector did not play a substantial role during the Maidan protests, and their violent actions had a negative impact on the movement's objectives in the foreseeable future (Likhachev 2015; Umland and Shekhovtsov 2014; Fedorenko and Umland 2022). Nevertheless, alternative perspectives presented by Ishchenko (2016) and Katchanovski (2019) argue the contrary, highlighting the importance of far-right ideology and the Right Sector in post-Maidan politics. Therefore, according to this narrative it is essential not to underestimate the significance of the far-right ideology and the Right Sector's role in shaping post-Maidan politics.

From an official political standpoint, Right Sector and UVC was hardly a force to be reckoned with, and did not pose a significant threat to the new democratic regime. Nevertheless, the movement boasted an armed paramilitary wing that did not submit to the regular armed forces of Ukraine. Therefore, although Right Sector's political role was negligible, its military wing carried out actions that arguably had some role and influence in the political system.

Overall, the scholarly debate on the militias and their relationship with the Ukrainian statehood can be broadly categorized into two opinion streams: A) According to Ishchenko (2022), the rise of far-right groups in Ukraine is a consequence of the country's political crisis, characterized by a lack of legitimacy and pervasive corruption. The far-right militias, including the Right Sector and Azov Battalion, have taken advantage of this crisis to promote their nationalist and anti-Russian agenda, using violence and intimidation to advance their political goals. They have exploited the country's weak political establishment to push their agenda forward. B) Despite that, Umland (2019: 106) argues that these militias have manifested themselves and played a crucial role in defending Ukrainians who see them as a necessary means of self-defense when official military structures have failed to do so. These militias have also succeeded in garnering a considerable following among Ukrainians who endorse their endeavors and actions in the conflict with Russia in the Donets Basin. (Umland 2020: 261).

Despite decreasing trust in major political leaders and parties, public trust in paramilitaries remained high. The conflict between ruling elites and paramilitary groups, supported by public opinion, further undermined the already-fragile Ukrainian state in the absence of democratic reforms and ongoing conflict in Eastern Ukraine (Malyarenko and Galbreath 2015: 124). The political legitimacy and widespread support of the volunteer battalions also subsequently enabled them to stage large-scale demonstrations and intimidate the government (Aliyev 2016: 13).

Overall, the relationship between the Right Sector and Azov militias and Ukrainian politics has been complex and diverse, with the support of some political parties on the one

hand and distancing of other parties on the other hand. Despite the complexities surrounding the issue, it is undeniable that the presence and actions of these militias have had a discernible impact on Ukrainian politics. They have participated in political protests, influenced the political process, and even formed their own political parties or participated in elections. Some militias have been more autonomous, while others have been closely linked to specific political parties. For instance, Azov had ties to the dissolved ultranationalist organization PU, while Right Sector has managed to establish its own political segment right away. Despite this effort, the organization did not receive significant support from the electorate (Fedorenko and Umland 2022: 238-239). In 2016, the political wing known as the National Corps emerged from the support network of volunteers for the Azov Battalion, which was initially established and led by Andriy Biletskyy, the Azov Battalion's founder and original commander (Rękawek 2023: 55).

To conclude the Ukrainian case, far-right militias enjoyed significant social acceptance due to their reputation as defenders of the nation. Nevertheless, as evidenced, this represented the peak of their influence within society and potential impact in the political realm. In different cases, this influence may be reflected in electoral outcomes and gains, although this scenario did not prove to be true here. Despite the prevailing social acceptance, there was a declining willingness among the general population to support these militias in elections, as indicated by outlined empirical evidence, especially the election results of far-right cliques. Therefore, it should be noted that in the case of farright pro-state militias, having a positive reputation does not necessarily translate into electoral success and, subsequently, making a meaningful dent in the state system as a whole. While Right Sector and Azov legitimized their presence in Ukrainian politics, they have failed to translate their heroic popularity in the war into political popularity. In the case of Azov, the attempts of the militia to impact the political system were abruptly disqualified when the regiment was practically depoliticized through its incorporation into the NGU, which generally prohibits active military personnel from entering politics. (Likhachev 2019a, 2019b, 2022b). Additionally, these militias and their political ventures experienced a gradual decline, partly because they prioritized engaging in conflict rather than focusing on strategic electoral campaigns, for instance. Their emphasis on radical ideologies also failed to resonate with the majority, making their pursuits incompatible with prevailing societal antagonism towards radical ideology (Likhachev 2017; Sinowitz 2020).

Croatian leadership attempted to distance the country from extremist views in order to gain positive publicity on the international stage. However, at the same time, the political establishment played to populist sentiments among the population and the Croatian diaspora by celebrating the country's past, which was rooted in Axis power politics. The language used by Tudjman and his government was often bitter and focused on historical grievances. This rhetoric created a sense of division between "us" (the Croats) and "them" (other groups) and promoted a feeling of nationalistic impunity, where the country felt that it could act without consequences (Ferguson 2020: 78).

Through the radical antagonistic stance towards Tudjman the HSP/HOS sought to position themselves as champions of a more uncompromising and assertive stance towards the defense of Croatia's sovereignty (Bellamy 2003: 84). This created ample recruitment potential and opportunities for many Croats who were eager to fight for independence but opposed Tudiman for similar reasons. At that time, the HOS were often regarded as true loyalists and defenders of the nation. Consequently, it was much easier and quicker to join the militia units and engage in combat compared to enlisting in the Croatian National Guard, which could take weeks to reach the battlefront (Milekić 2020). Similarly, in the Bosnia war, many Bosnian Muslims enlisted in the HOS in order to combat the Serbs at a time when Alija Izetbegovic's administration seemed unresponsive to safeguard the BiH against the BSA and its Serbian and JNA supporters (Vulliamy 1994: 215). However, similar to the situation in Ukraine, the ordinary Croat respected HOS for its firm patriotic stance, willingness, and effectiveness in defending the state during dire situations of conflict. Yet, this popular support did not translate into significant electoral gains. Just as in the Ukrainian scenario, the presence of a far-right ideology more or less harmed the HSP/HOS, making it an easier target for the opposition. The opposition offered a practically similar political program, mainly centered on a sovereign Croatia, but without the radical ideology that simply, as outlined evidence shows, did not appeal to, or did not provide enough incentive for most voters.

As stated, the HOS served as armed volunteers for the political organization of the HSP. However, upon closer examination of the election results, it becomes apparent that the HSP lacked significant political support. For example, during the initial democratic elections in 1990, the party abstained from participating in parliamentary candidacy. In 1992, HSP gained 7.07% votes, securing mere five seats in the Croatian parliament.

Moreover, the HSP has undergone multiple divisions and reunifications with its factions, which can be attributed to internal ideological differences, notably the persistent division between fascism and anti-fascism. (Kasapović 2000: 11, 14-15). This indicates that the farright opposition was politically feeble, fragmented, and nearly nonexistent (Milekić 2022). The HSP's paramilitary force therefore represented the primary source of potential impact or threat towards the government in regard to radical ideology and coup d'état.

Similar to the HSP political party, the HOS took pride in militant nationalism, firm opposition to communism, and strong anti-Yugoslavian sentiments. The group refused to acknowledge the country's anti-fascist history, attributing it to Yugoslavian communism. Additionally, the HOS regarded Bosnia as an integral part of Croatian territory and believed that Bosniaks were Croatian Muslims. The organization donned black uniforms, named its units after Ustasha commanders, greeted each other using "*Za dom spremni*" accompanied by the Nazi salute, and expressed a clear affinity for the Ustasha legacy and nostalgia for the Independent Croatian State during 1944-45 (Soucy 2023). With regards to the ideological foundations, it is unequivocally possible to classify the HOS as a far-right entity with clear elements of neo-fascism.

Similar to the case of Ukraine, particularly Right Sector, it can be argued that the HOS units were pro-state rather than pro-government. This assertion is supported by the latest PGMD publication by Carey et al. (2022). The HSP/HOS opposed Tudjman and his party due to their lack of radical nationalism, previous service in the communist army, and willingness to compromise with the Serb minority in Croatia. Another reason why Paraga, Paradžik, and others opposed the government was their disagreement over Tudjman's policy of collaborating with the international community to resolve the Yugoslav crisis. Additionally, they posited that the Croatian state required a more radical defense than what was being offered by President Tudjman. To support their argument, the party drew upon the works of figures such as Ante Starčević and Ustasha ideologues like Mile Budak. Through this rhetorical strategy, the HSP/HOS sought to position themselves as champions of a more uncompromising and assertive stance towards the defense of Croatia's sovereignty (Bellamy 2003: 84).

Tudjman perceived the radical tendencies of HSP, accompanied by armed fighters in the HOS, as problematic. Consequently, he utilized their fervent Ustasha glorification against them, labeling them as fascists and discrediting, harassing, and obstructing their political and military activities. Nonetheless, the over-radicalized nature of the HOS provided President Tudjman with a formidable tool to inflict violence and political oppression on his opposition from HOS/HSP (Bellamy 2003: 78).

By dealing with this opposition, Croatian government eventually achieved ideological hegemony, today also referred to as *Tudjmanism*. A diluted far-right narrative, that emphasized Croatian nationalism, a centralized state, and the use of force to achieve independence, but also marginalized ethnic minorities, particularly Serbs (MacDonald 2002). Eventually, even the most hardcore HOS veterans became allies of the currently ruling HDZ party. Once independent, fierce critics became the HDZ's puppets in the irrelevant far-right cliques of Croatia, also depending on state funds and support (Milekić 2020).

Unlike previous cases, the AUC did not have an official political party connected to the paramilitary conglomerate. Moreover, given the circumstances of its formation, the militia practically gained popular support right from the beginning. The initial formation and its effectiveness in combating the guerrillas that terrorized the state, and even ordinary Colombians (such as farmers), were wholeheartedly welcomed. Regarding the impact of the militia on the state, as hinted in the second chapter, instead of using its own political party, the influential leaders of the AUC opted to utilize their power, influence, and control over state institutions to co-opt individual politicians or parties in order to advance their ideological and, more frequently, business agenda.

For example, in prior municipal elections, the AUC demonstrated a strong level of organization in their attempts to bribe potential candidates. In Colombia's central Magdalena region, which is considered the AUC's core territory, hundreds of politicians were invited to a meeting in 2000 by the paramilitary leader, Rodrigo Tovar, also known as "Jorge 40," where he personally selected candidates to run for office. Comparable gatherings were also held by other AUC commanders in Uraba, situated near the Panama border, and the Eastern Plains, where they financed and picked their chosen candidates (Pachico 2011).

With regards to the ideological underpinnings of the AUC, it should be noted that this organization emerged as a conglomeration of regional militias that had been initially financed and established by individuals who harbored staunch opposition to the communist ideology and aggression emanating from leftist insurgent groups. The AUC was established to protect the economic interests of its supporters, including community members, political leaders, and influential individuals (Global Security 2023). Therefore, its ideology can be classified as right-wing rather than far-right; nevertheless, it is often argued that its ideological anchorage only served as a façade for the group's criminal activities and its allied political actors. (Bargent 2014).

However, the objective to garner more social acceptance amongst population was further vocalized through the propaganda of the AUC. Their rhetoric was not limited to news or websites; they also produced and promoted testimonies highlighting the heroics of their leaders, such as Castaño or Salvatore Mancuso. Historically, testimonies have focused on the experiences of victims of state violence. In Columbia, however, this narrative form has begun to circulate unmoored from its original political foundation, and was used by the narrators from the right who hoped to position themselves as marginalized and oppressed (Tate 2018: 430).

Furthermore, it is noteworthy to emphasize that Colombian democracy was significantly flawed during the period under consideration. The state's democratic institutions and electoral politics underwent a unique development amid a civil war, which resulted in "voting amid violence." This was taking place alongside the multi-year peace negotiations with rebel forces, making Colombia an intriguing case study (see Taylor 2009, 2016). William Avilés (2008) describes the amalgamation of political violence, neoliberal aspirations, and political elite modernization in Colombia as a low intensity democracy. A democratic regime advocated globally, serving as an indispensable component in the dissemination of open markets (Avilés 2008: 380).

Additionally, turning back to the criminal character of the AUC, the "narcotization" of numerous paramilitary factions under the AUC's umbrella diluted and distorted the right-wing ideological essence of the paramilitary groups (Civico 2009: 31), thereby creating ambiguous situations in which AUC units shared territories with guerrillas. In these scenarios, the AUC was more concerned with ensuring the functionality and fluency of drug routes than with engaging in conflict with the guerrillas (Gutiérrez-Sanín 2022: 88).

## Discussion

The research aimed to analyze the impact of pro-state militias with a distinct political ideology on the stability and functioning of the democratic system. Specifically, the study sought to comprehend the potential consequences of these militias' activities and influence on democratic processes and institutions within a country undergoing a civil war. Moreover, it aimed to evaluate the impact and threat posed by these pro-state militias against the state, especially considering their radical ideological background. Additionally, the research explored the extent of integration of these militias into the state, encompassing aspects such as patronage ties, incorporation into official military structures, and other forms of interaction. By addressing these research objectives, the study aimed to make a valuable contribution to the existing body of knowledge by providing a nuanced understanding of the implications and dynamics involved when such groups operate within a democratic framework.

The key findings of the research indicated an ambivalent nature of the relationship between pro-state militias and the state during civil conflicts. On one hand, militias engaged in conflict with the state due to ideological differences, perceiving the state as lacking patriotism, being inadequate in safeguarding national sovereignty, and demonstrating insufficient preparedness or motivation to counter the common enemy. On the other hand, despite this conflict, militias managed to establish patronage ties with the state, encompassing shared interests in the political sphere, business activities, personal goals, and pre-existing connections.

The analysis highlighted the complex dynamics involving conflict, patronage ties, and integration between militias and the state. While the militias challenged the state, they also significantly contributed to the defense of the weakened state during civil conflicts. The research findings demonstrated that granting militias a portion of monopoly on violence ultimately aided the country against belligerent forces. However, as militias collaborated with state units such as the army or police, they tended to lose the autonomy they previously enjoyed.

Furthermore, the research emphasized the noteworthy popular support that militias gained through their heroic wartime actions. However, this support did not necessarily translate into meaningful electoral gains, as some militias prioritized their focus on combat rather than strategic election campaigns. The study revealed that the radical far-right ideology of these militias diminished their desirability for significant segments of the population to elect militia commanders to higher political positions.

The research underscored the state's resilience towards the ideological nature of these militias. During civil conflicts the state conveniently embraced ultra-nationalistic sentiments to rally the nation. Beyond this, however, the militias often lacked substantial political contributions that resonated with significant portions of the population. The research also indicated that the state forcefully integrated militias under unified commands or into specific military structures, effectively depoliticizing their units and diminishing their ideological sentiments.

Additionally, the analysis of the AUC case highlighted a different scenario where the conflict between pro-state militias and the government was not as prominent. Instead, organized crime infiltrated various structures within the state, leading to issues related to patronage ties, security, and the economy.

Another significant finding was the notable upsurge of political violence, targeted killings, and violent protests or uprisings when pro-state militias became hostile or antagonistic towards the government. While the challenge posed by these militias did not involve rebellion or restructuring of the existing order, it reflected a desire for a sovereign and strong nation, often criticizing the specific government for insufficient nationalism, lack of action against insurgents, corruption, and nepotism.

Returning to the initial conceptualization of "Militia-State Ambivalence Nexus," the outlined framework, together with the theoretical assumptions, has proven to be a valid contribution to the existing knowledge in this field of study. In all four observed cases, the governments adhered to the blueprint presented in my research. Both Ukraine and Croatia at that time resolutely distanced themselves from radical sentiments of these militias, yet they successfully adopted and promoted aspects of patriotism and nationalism in relation to the common enemy of the state, such as pro-Russian separatists, JNA, and Serbs. In the case of Colombia, the state structures employed a slightly different rhetoric, characterized by a strong anti-communism stance and adherence to right-wing principles firmly linked with economic development, which would have otherwise been impeded by rebellion and terrorizing of the common populace by guerrillas. Furthermore, in all cases, the democratic systems conceded a portion of their autonomy over violence to pro-state militias, as discussed by Carey et al. (2013) and Aliyev (2016). These articles shed light on the

delegation of authority to militias and highlight how this arrangement provided them with a degree of freedom to combat belligerent forces in scenarios where conventional forces either failed or lacked the capacity to do so alone (e.g., Vukovar siege, Mariupol liberation). The partial disentanglement from the official army provided militias with legitimate stakes in presenting themselves as heroic defenders of the homeland to the general populace. At the same time, the states in the observed cases significantly and quickly bolstered their combat potential, which would have otherwise required numerous bureaucratic and legitimacy-concerned procedures for the militias to operate on the frontlines. Lastly, in all analyzed cases, this concession of violence was accompanied by a governmental strategy forceful incorporation (Croatia to employ case), disarmament/demobilization (Colombia case), or premeditated integration into official law enforcement structures (Ukraine case). The concept's final step of state cohesion and integration ultimately reduced any possible threats to the system itself from both a radical ideological standpoint and challenges to the ruling structure. The ideological core of former pro-state militias diminished within the armed segments, and in some cases, transcended into the political arena. Nevertheless, as already outlined in the empirical findings, the radicalism of hardline members had limited success, if any, in elections or influencing movements.

In comparison to the works of Aliyev (2016) and Carey et al. (2013), my concept and findings offer a unique and comprehensive perspective on the relationship between authorities and ultra-nationalist pro-state militias. While drawing inspiration from their research, my approach delves into the intricate dynamics of integration, confrontation, patronage ties, and the impact of ideologically driven militias on the democratic state system. By exploring these factors, my framework not only recognizes the resilience of the state but also acknowledges the popularity of pro-state militias within political circles. It sheds light on the distinct characteristics of these militias and highlights the inherent tension that arises from their simultaneous loyalty to the state and autonomous identity.

Importantly, the observed findings from my research underscore the contradictory nature of far-right radicalism within militias and the democratic foundations of the analyzed cases. Furthermore, my research emphasizes the strategies employed by democratic governments, such as cooperation, disarmament/demobilization, and the incorporation of militias into law enforcement structures. These measures were implemented to mitigate potential threats by diminishing the radicalism within the militias and integrating them into the state apparatus.

It is important to note that the analyzed empirical findings consistently indicate a decrease in the threat posed by radical pro-state militias in relation to the government. The strategic implementation of the "Militia-State Ambivalence Nexus" framework, including promotion of patriotism and nationalism, controlled delegation, and state integration, has proven effective in regulating and mitigating the potential risks associated with these militias. By adopting these measures, governments can minimize the likelihood of confrontations, disloyalty, and challenges to the political order, thereby ensuring enhanced stability and security.

To conclude, as my initial hypothesis suggested, the impact of radical cliques within pro-state militias on democratic state systems is relatively insignificant. The oftcited danger of right-wing militias' ideological foundations may be overstated, and the recurring discussion surrounding the presence of hazardous extremist beliefs in a nation with relatively stable democratic governance provides a sensationalized narrative with limited relevance to substantive political and military matters. Therefore, the impact of ultra-nationalist pro-state militias with a radical political ideology on the stability and functioning of the democratic system may be less significant than often portrayed.

Examining the potential threat posed by ultra-nationalist pro-state militias with a radical political ideology to the democratic system, including their integration through patronage ties, sheds light on the complex relationship between these militant groups and the stability of democracy. The integration of ultra-nationalist pro-state militias with a radical political ideology into the democratic system, particularly through patronage ties, may still introduce marginal threats to its stability. These militias may challenge the government and engage in conflicts that can disrupt democratic processes and institutions. However, the research findings indicate that the state shows substantial resilience towards the ideological nature of these militias. The state may establish patronage ties with the militias, sharing political interests, business activities, and pre-existing connections. Additionally, the state can exert control and integration over the militias through forceful measures such as incorporating them into official military structures. By depoliticizing the militias and diminishing their ideological sentiments, the state mitigates the threat they pose to the democratic system. However, it should be noted that the infiltration of

organized crime within the state can present different challenges related to patronage ties, security, and the economy, potentially affecting democratic stability.

As my initial argumentation hinted, in the short-term perspective nationalist militias can significantly strengthen a state's security and defense, particularly during times of military conflict. However, for such dynamics to benefit the state in the long run, these armed groups must be successfully integrated into the official military structures, which would diminish the influence of radical ideology within the militias. Although the presence of radical ideology and the loss of the state's monopoly over violence may have consequences, the correct decision-making processes can allow a regime to secure its defense and augment its combat potential. Therefore, the threat posed by ultra-nationalist pro-state militias with a radical political ideology to the democratic system is mitigated when these groups are integrated into official military structures and their ideological sentiments fade away.

In terms of integration into the democratic system, the research shows that pro-state militias can establish patronage ties with the state, encompassing shared interests in the political sphere, business activities, personal goals, and pre-existing connections. However, as the militias collaborate with state units such as the army or the police, they tend to lose the autonomy they previously enjoyed. Therefore, the extent of integration of such militant groups into the democratic system varies, and their level of integration can be influenced by factors such as patronage ties and incorporation into official military structures.

## Conclusions

In conclusion, this diploma thesis has made a significant contribution to the academic discourse by providing a comprehensive and in-depth analysis of the impact of ultranationalist pro-state militias with a radical political ideology on the stability and functioning of democratic systems. Through a rigorous qualitative approach and meticulous examination of multiple case studies, the research has effectively investigated the multifaceted consequences of these militias' activities, their integration into the state apparatus, and the potential threats they pose to democratic processes.

The findings of this study have shed valuable light on the complex and dynamic relationship between pro-state militias and the state during civil conflicts. The research has unveiled the intricate dual nature of this relationship, in which militias engage in direct conflict with the state due to ideological differences, often criticized the state for its perceived lack of patriotism or failure to safeguard national sovereignty. Paradoxically, these militias have also managed to forge patronage ties and establish shared interests within the political sphere, indicating a certain level of integration within the state apparatus itself.

Importantly, the analysis has demonstrated the significant role played by pro-state militias in defending the weakened state during civil conflicts. By granting these militias a degree of autonomy over the use of violence and engaging them in combat, the state has effectively harnessed their expertise and commitment to combat belligerent forces. This strategic delegation of authority has ensured the nation's defense, albeit at the cost of a temporary relinquishment of the state's monopoly on violence.

Nevertheless, it is worth noting that as these militias collaborate more closely with official military structures, their autonomy gradually diminishes, thus limiting their ability to pursue independent objectives and potentially compromising their ideological foundations. The integration of militias into the state's military apparatus is often accompanied by deliberate de-politicization measures, effectively dampening their ideological fervor and mitigating their potential threat to the democratic system. This integration process, characterized by forceful incorporation, disarmament/demobilization,

or premeditated integration, is designed to align the militias with the state's interests while curbing their independent influence and sense of indispensability.

Moreover, the research findings have underscored the significance of popular support garnered by these militias through their heroic actions during times of war. However, it is important to note that this popular support does not necessarily translate into meaningful electoral gains or substantial influence on the political landscape. The militias' radical far-right ideology, coupled with their primary focus on combat rather than strategic electoral campaigns, has limited their appeal to a broader segment of the population. Consequently, although pro-state militias may enjoy support within specific circles, their capacity to exert significant political influence within the democratic system remains constrained.

The analysis of the AUC case has revealed an alternative scenario, in which the infiltration of organized crime within the state introduces distinct challenges related to patronage ties, security, and economy. This underscores the necessity for a nuanced understanding of the varied dynamics that can emerge when examining the integration of pro-state militias into the democratic system.

Furthermore, the conceptual framework of the "Militia-State Ambivalence Nexus" developed in this thesis represents a notable contribution to the existing body of knowledge in this field of study. By effectively capturing the intricate interplay between pro-state militias and democratic governments, this framework provides insightful perspectives into the strategies employed by governments to harness the militias' capabilities while simultaneously mitigating potential threats. The framework acknowledges the state's resilience towards the ideological nature of these militias and highlights the measures implemented to integrate them into official military structures, thereby minimizing the potential destabilizing effects on the democratic system.

Although this research has shed considerable light on the impact of ultranationalist pro-state militias with a radical political ideology on the stability and functioning of the democratic system, there are several avenues for further exploration. Future studies could place greater emphasis on the political wings of these militias, as they possess the potential to exert a more substantial impact on the state system. By delving deeper into the political dynamics and strategies employed by these militias, researchers can gain a more nuanced understanding of their influence on democratic processes and institutions, thus enriching our comprehension of the implications and challenges posed by these groups within a democratic framework.

The research findings highlight the intricate and multifaceted dynamics involved in the relationship between these militias and the state, emphasizing the imperative for strategic integration and the mitigation of ideological threats. Through an insightful exploration of the interplay between militias and democratic systems, this thesis enhances our understanding of the complex implications and challenges posed by these groups within the framework of a democratic society. Future research should continue to explore the political wings of these militias, shedding further light on their potential influence on the state system and advancing our knowledge in this field. Moreover, it is important to note that the conceptual framework developed in this thesis holds promise for broader applicability. The model can potentially extend beyond far-right militias to encompass other radicalized armed pro-state formations within democratic environments, allowing for similar observations and analyses. By expanding the scope of inquiry to include a wider range of radical ideologies, researchers can gain a more comprehensive understanding of the dynamics between these militias and the democratic system. This expanded approach would contribute to advancing our knowledge and deepening our insights into the implications of radical militia groups within democratic frameworks.

## References

Adam, Hussein M. 1992. "Somalia: militarism, warlordism or democracy?." *Review of African political economy* 19 (54): 11-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03056249208703950</u>.

Ahram, Ariel I. 2011. *Proxy warriors: the rise and fall of state-sponsored militias*. Stanford, CA: Stanford Security Studies. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/9780804777407</u>.

Aliyev, Huseyn. 2016. "Strong militias, weak states and armed violence." *Security dialogue* 47 (6): 498-516. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0967010616669900</u>.

Aliyev, Huseyn. 2017. "Pro-regime Militias and Civil War Duration." *Terrorism and political violence* 32 (3): 630-650. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2017.1393415</u>.

Aliyev, Huseyn. 2022. "Pro-government Anti-government Armed Groups? Toward Theorizing Pro-government "Government Challengers"." *Terrorism and political violence* 34 (7): 1369-1385. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2020.1785877</u>.

Aliyev, Huseyn. 2023. ""Unlikely Recruits": Why Politically Irrelevant Ethnic Minorities Participate in Civil Wars?." *Studies in conflict and terrorism* 46 (6): 847-869. https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2020.1793457.

Alsema, Adriaan. 2012a. "37 Colombian congressmen, 5 governors convicted for ties to paramilitaries." *Colombia Reports*. Accessed May 23, 2023. <u>https://colombiareports.com/37-colombian-congressmen-5-governors-convicted-for-ties-to-paramilitary-death-squads/</u>.

Alsema, Adriaan. 2012b. "Uribe behind assassination of AUC founders: Demobilized warlord". *Colombia Reports*. Accessed May 23, 2023. <u>https://colombiareports.com/uribe-behind-assasination-of-founders-auc-demobilized-warlord/</u>

Aranguren Molina, Mauricio. 2001. *Mi Confesion, Carlos Castaño Revela Sus Secretos*. Editorial Oveja Negra.

Ash, Konstantin. 2016. "Threats to Leaders' Political Survival and Pro-Government Militia Formation." *International interactions* 42 (5): 703-728. https://doi.org/10.1080/03050629.2016.1138108.

Aviles, William. 2006. "Paramilitarism and Colombia's Low-Intensity Democracy." *Journal of Latin American studies* 38 (2): 379-408. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022216X06000757.

Balmforth, Tom. 2014. "Frustrated Ukrainian Activists Dishing Out 'Trash-Bucket Justice'." *Radio Free Europe*. Accessed May 10, 2023. <u>https://www.rferl.org/a/ukraine-lustration-trash-can-justice/26616901.html</u>.

Bargent, James. 2014. "Colombia, US Accused of Impunity Over Early Narco, AUC Releases." *Insight Crime*. Accessed May 28, 2023. https://insightcrime.org/news/brief/colombia-us-face-accusations-of-impunity-over-early-releases-for-narcos-and-auc/. Barter, Shane Joshua. 2013. "State Proxy or Security Dilemma? Understanding Anti-Rebel Militias in Civil War." *Asian security (Philadelphia, Pa.)* 9 (2): 75-92. https://doi.org/10.1080/14799855.2013.795546.

BBC. 2011. "Carlos Castaño murder: Nine men sentenced in Colombia." Accessed May 22, 2023. <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/world-latin-america-12779945</u>.

Bejarano, Ana María. 2003. "Protracted Conflict, Multiple Protagonists, and Staggered Negotiations: Colombia, 1982-2002." *Canadian journal of Latin American and Caribbean studies* 28 (55-56): 223-247. https://doi.org/10.1080/08263663.2003.10816842.

Bellamy, Alex J. 2003. *The formation of Croatian national identity a centuries-old dream*. Manchester: Manchester University Press.

Bergquist, Charles W., Gonzalo Sánchez G., and Ricardo Peñaranda. 2001. *Violence in Colombia, 1999-2000: Waging War and Negotiating Peace*. 1st ed. Scholarly Resources Books.

Bjørgo, Tore. 2019. "Taking the law into one's own hands? On the nature, organization and rationale of vigilantism against Migrants and Minorities in Europe." *C-REX Center for Research on Extremism*. Accessed May 18, 2023. <u>https://www.sv.uio.no/c-rex/english/news-and-events/right-now/2019/vigilantism.html</u>

Borovac, Marina, J. Popović, and Vanja Moskaljov. 2010. "Za doprinos ugledu Hrvatske odlikovan osuđeni za prodaju viza." *Večernji List*. Accessed June 19, 2023. <u>https://www.vecernji.hr/vijesti/za-doprinos-ugledu-hrvatske-odlikovan-osudjeni-za-prodaju-viza-160874</u>

Bukkvoll, Tor. 2019. "Fighting on behalf of the state-the issue of pro-government militia autonomy in the Donbas war." *Post-Soviet affairs* 35 (4): 293-307. https://doi.org/10.1080/1060586X.2019.1615810.

Bulakh, Anna; Senkiv, Grigori; Teperik, Dmitri. 2017. "First on the Front Lines: The role of volunteers in countering Russia's military aggression against Ukraine." *ICDS (International Centre for Defence and Security)*. Accessed May 23, 2023. <u>https://icds.ee/wp-</u> content/uploads/2018/ICDS report First on the front lines ukraine.pdf

Campbell, Bruce B., and Arthur D. Brenner. 2002. *Death Squads in Global Perspective: Murder with Deniability*. Palgrave Macmillan.

Carey, Sabine C, Neil J Mitchell, and Katrin Paula. 2022. "The life, death and diversity of pro-government militias: The fully revised pro-government militias database version 2.0." *Research & politics* 9 (1): 205316802110627. https://doi.org/10.1177/20531680211062772.

Carey, Sabine C., and Neil J. Mitchell. 2017. "Progovernment Militias." *Annual Review of Political Science* 20 (1): 127-147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-polisci-051915-045433</u>.

Carey, Sabine C., Michael P. Colaresi, and Neil J. Mitchell. 2015. "Governments, Informal Links to Militias, and Accountability." *The Journal of conflict resolution* 59 (5): 850-876. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002715576747.

Carey, Sabine C., Michael P. Colaresi, and Neil J. Mitchell. 2016a. "Risk Mitigation, Regime Security, and Militias: Beyond Coup-proofing." *International studies quarterly* 60 (1): 59-72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/isqu.12210</u>.

Carey, Sabine C., Neil J. Mitchell, and Adam Scharpf. 2016b. "Pro-Government Militias and Conflict." *Oxford Research Encyclopedia of Politics*. https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190228637.013.33.

Carey, Sabine C., Neil J. Mitchell, and Will Lowe. 2013. "States, the security sector, and the monopoly of violence: A new database on pro-government militias." *Journal of Peace Research* 50 (2): 249-258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022343312464881</u>.

Censor.NET. 2015a. "Mukacheve shootout provoked by police officers, - Parliamentary Commission." Accessed June 10, 2023.

https://censor.net/en/news/352487/mukacheve\_shootout\_provoked\_by\_police\_officers\_par liamentary\_commission

Censor.NET. 2015b. "Yarosh's resignation related to radicalization of part of Right Sector members." Accessed June 10, 2023.

https://censor.net/en/news/360411/yaroshs\_resignation\_related\_to\_radicalization\_of\_part\_ of\_right\_sector\_members.

Censor.NET. 2015c. "Kremlin's involvement in Mukacheve events is obvious, Poroshenko says." Accessed June 10, 2023.

https://censor.net/en/news/344031/kremlins\_involvement\_in\_mukacheve\_events\_is\_obvio us\_poroshenko\_says.

Civico, Aldo. 2009. *No divulgar hasta que los implicados estén muertos: Las guerras de "Doblecero"*. Intermedio Editores Ltda.

Civico, Aldo. 2012. "We are Illegal, but not Illegitimate." Modes of Policing in Medellin, Colombia." *Political and legal anthropology review* 35 (1): 77-93. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1555-2934.2012.01180.x.

Cohen, Dara Kay, and Ragnhild Nordås. 2015. "Do States Delegate Shameful Violence to Militias? Patterns of Sexual Violence in Recent Armed Conflicts." *The Journal of conflict resolution* 59 (5): 877-898. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002715576748</u>.

Cohen, Dara Kay. 2016. *Rape during civil war*. Ithaca, New York: Cornell University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.7591/9781501705984</u>.

Cohen, Josh. 2015. "In the battle between Ukraine and Russian separatists, shady private armies take the field." *Reuters*. Accessed June 10, 2023. https://www.reuters.com/article/idUS60927080220150505.

Colborne, Michael. 2022. From the Fires of War: Ukraine's Azov Movement and the Global Far Right. Ibidem Press.

Colombia Reports. 2016. "AUC." Accessed May 2, 2023. https://colombiareports.com/auc/.

Curry, Alexander, and Leonie Ansems de Vries. 2020. "Violent governance, identity and the production of legitimacy: autodefensas in Latin America." *Journal of international relations and development* 23 (2): 262-284. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/s41268-018-0145-1</u>.

Danas.HR. 2017. "TKO JE MARKO SKEJO? / Pavelićev fan, porezni dužnik i poduzetnik koji je firmu nazvao 'Za dom'." Accessed June 19, 2023. <u>https://net.hr/danas/hrvatska/tko-je-ustvari-marko-skejo-pavelicev-fan-porezni-duznik-i-poduzetnik-koji-je-firmu-nazvao-za-dom-fd881716-b1c1-11eb-9dae-0242ac140016</u>

Diamond, Larry. 2002. "Thinking about hybrid regimes." *Journal of democracy* 13 (2): 21-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/jod.2002.0025</u>.

Dolzhenkova, Inna. 2014. "Сектор лівий, сектор правий..." *Detektor Media*. Accessed June 10, 2023. <u>https://detector.media/kritika/article/92200/2014-04-02-sektor-livyy-sektor-pravyy/</u>.

El Espectador. 2008. "A juicio empresario bananero." Accessed May 21, 2023. https://www.elespectador.com/economia/a-juicio-empresario-bananero-article-95589/.

Fedorenko, Kostiantyn, and Andreas Umland. 2022. "Between Frontline and Parliament: Ukrainian Political Parties and Irregular Armed Groups in 2014–2019." *Nationalities papers* 50 (2): 237-261. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/nps.2021.20</u>.

Felbab-Brown, Vanda, Harold Trinkunas, and Shadi Hamid. 2017. *Militants, Criminals, and Warlords: The Challenge of Local Governance in an Age of Disorder*. Brookings Institution Press.

Ferguson, Kate. 2015. An investigation into the irregular military dynamics in Yugoslavia, 1992-1995. Doctoral thesis, University of East Anglia. https://ueaeprints.uea.ac.uk/id/eprint/59455/

Ferguson, Kate. 2020. Architectures of Violence: The Command Structures of Modern Mass Atrocities, from Yugoslavia to Syria. Oxford University Press.

Fionik, Dmitry. 2015. "Тренды: армия уже боеспособна, но еще не профессиональна." *Focus.ua*. Accessed May 10, 2023 <u>https://focus.ua/politics/322418</u>

Focus.UA. 2021. "Дмитрий Ярош мобилизирует Добровольческую армию, в ответ на митинги ОПЗЖ." Accessed May 19, 2023. <u>https://focus.ua/ukraine/473591-dmitriy-</u>yarosh-mobiliziruet-dobrovolcheskuyu-armiyu-v-otvet-na-mitingi-opzzh.

Fumerton, Mario. 2003. From Victims To Heroes: Peasant Counter-Rebellion And Civil War In Ayacucho, Peru, 1980-2000. Purdue University Press.

Furmanyuk, Artem. 2017. "Резонансні «теракти» та інші вбивства в Україні. «Азовський» слід." *Racurs*. Accessed June 18, 2023 <u>http://web.archive.org/web/20210428033128/https:/racurs.ua/ua/1791-rezonansni-terakty-ta-inshi-vbyvstva-v-ukrayini-azovskyy-slid.html</u> Garay-Salamanca, Luis Jorge, and Eduardo Salcedo-Albarán. 2012. "Institutional impact of criminal networks in Colombia and Mexico." *Crime, law and social change* 57 (2): 177-194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10611-011-9338-x</u>.

Gentile, Carmen. 2008. "Families Sue Chiquita in Deaths of 5 Men." *The New York Times*. Accessed May 21, 2023. <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2008/03/17/us/17chiquita.html</u>.

Ghosn, Faten, and Amal Khoury. 2011. "Lebanon after the Civil War: Peace or the Illusion of Peace?" *The Middle East journal* 65 (3): 381-397. <u>https://doi.org/10.3751/65.3.12</u>.

Girin, Nikita. 2014. "Особо злостный гражданин." *Novaya Gazeta*. Accessed June 15, 2023. <u>https://novayagazeta.ru/articles/2014/12/09/62280-osobo-zlostnyy-grazhdanin</u>

Glavkom. 2019. "Ярош, Тягнибок та Білецький таки сформували єдиний список на вибори." Accessed May 20, 2023. <u>https://glavcom.ua/country/politics/yarosh-tyagnibok-bileckiy-taki-sformuvali-jediniy-spisok-na-vibori-600508.html</u>.

Global Security. 2023. "United Self-Defense Forces/Group of Colombia (AUC - Autodefensas Unidas de Colombia)." Accessed June 25, 2023. https://www.globalsecurity.org/military/world/para/auc.htm.

Goffman, Sam. 2005. "Colombia: paramilitaries get sweetheart deal (United Self-Defense Forces of Colombia)." *NACLA report on the Americas (1993)* 39 (2): 50. https://web.s.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=0&sid=aee5ac8c-bb68-4a25-8b38-c2581b214c41%40redis

Golubov, Aleksandr. 2014. "Арсен Аваков: Мир нужен, но не любой ценой." *Focus.ua*. Accessed May 10, 2023. <u>https://focus.ua/politics/316552</u>

Gomza, Ivan, and Johann Zajaczkowski. 2019. "Black Sun Rising: Political Opportunity Structure Perceptions and Institutionalization of the Azov Movement in Post-Euromaidan Ukraine." *Nationalities papers* 47 (5): 774-800. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/nps.2019.30</u>.

Gorder, Gabrielle. 2021. "Demobilized but Not Disarmed, Colombia Paramilitaries Continue Extorting." *Insight Crime*. Accessed May 25, 2023. <u>https://insightcrime.org/news/demobilized-disarmed-colombia-paramilitaries-continue-extorting/</u>.

Grajales, Jacobo. 2013. "State Involvement, Land Grabbing and Counter-Insurgency in Colombia." *Development and change* 44 (2): 211-232. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/dech.12019</u>.

Grajales, Jacobo. 2017. "Private Security and Paramilitarism in Colombia: Governing in the Midst of Violence." *Journal of politics in Latin America* 9 (3): 27-48. https://doi.org/10.1177/1866802X1700900302.

Griffin, Roger, and Matthew Feldman. 2003. *Fascism: Critical Concepts in Political Science*. London: Routledge.

Gutiérrez-Sanín, Francisco. 2022. "Illicit economies and political opportunity. the case of the Colombian paramilitaries (1982-2007)." *Journal of political power* 15 (1): 80-100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/2158379X.2022.2031110</u>. Hladka, Kateryna, Dmytro Hromakov, Veronika Myronova, Olha Pluzhnyk, Oleh Pokalchuk, Ihor Rudych, Vasilisa Trofymovych, and Artem Shevchenko. 2016. *The Volunteer Battalions-The Victorious History of the Battalions that Saved the Country*. Kharkiv: Folio.

Horncastle, James. 2015. "Croatia's bitter harvest: Total National Defence's role in the Croatian War of Independence." *Small wars & insurgencies* 26 (5): 744-763. https://doi.org/10.1080/09592318.2015.1072320.

Hrvatska Radiotelevizija. 2000. "ŽIVOTOPISI PREDSJEDNIČKIH KANDIDATA." Accessed June 19, 2023. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20151018085622/http://www.hrt.hr/arhiv/100/01/08/HRT0009</u>. .html

Human Rights Watch (HRW). 2010. "Paramilitaries' Heirs - The New Face of Violence in Colombia". Accessed May 22, 2023. https://www.hrw.org/reports/colombia0210 insert low 0.pdf.

Human Rights Watch (HRW). 2022. "World Report 2022: Rights Trends in Ukraine." Accessed April 16, 2023. <u>https://www.hrw.org/world-report/2022/country-chapters/ukraine</u>.

Hurska, Alla. 2016. "Far-Right Movements And Ideology In Contemporary Ukraine: Formidable Image Vs. Weak Essence." *Notes Internacionals CIDOB*. Accessed May 16, 2023.

https://www.cidob.org/en/publications/publication\_series/notes\_internacionals/n1\_141\_far \_right\_movements\_and\_ideology\_in\_contemporary\_ukraine\_formidable\_image\_vs\_weak\_ essence/far\_right\_movements\_and\_ideology\_in\_contemporary\_ukraine\_formidable\_image\_ vs\_weak\_essence

Immigration and Refugee Board of Canada (IRBC). 1992. "Chronology of Events: September 1991 - July 1992". Accessed May 13, 2023. https://www.refworld.org/docid/3ae6a81114.html.

InsightCrime. 2017. "ERPAC". Accessed May 24, 2023. https://insightcrime.org/colombia-organized-crime-news/erpac/

InsightCrime. 2022. "Gaitanistas - Gulf Clan." Accessed May 24, 2023. https://insightcrime.org/colombia-organized-crime-news/urabenos-profile/.

International Crisis Group (ICG). 2004. "Demobilising the Paramilitaries in Colombia: An Achievable Goal?" Accessed May 25, 2023. <u>https://www.crisisgroup.org/latin-america-</u>caribbean/andes/colombia/demobilising-paramilitaries-colombia-achievable-goal

International Crisis Group (ICG). 2006. *Colombia: Towards Peace and Justice?* Latin America report N°15. Bogotá/Brussels: *International Crisis Group*. Accessed May 22, 2023. <u>https://www.crisisgroup.org/latin-america-caribbean/andes/colombia/colombia-towards-peace-and-justice</u>.

Irvine, Jill A. 1997. "Ultranationalist Ideology and State-Building in Croatia, 1990-1996." *Problems of post-communism* 44 (4): 30-43. https://doi.org/10.1080/10758216.1997.11655740.

Ishchenko, Volodymyr. 2016. "Far right participation in the Ukrainian Maidan protests: an attempt of systematic estimation." *European politics and society (Abingdon, England)* 17 (4): 453-472. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23745118.2016.1154646</u>.

Ishchenko, Volodymyr. 2022. "Towards the Abyss." *New Left Review* 133/134. Accessed May 19, 2023. <u>https://newleftreview.org/issues/ii133/articles/volodymyr-ishchenko-towards-the-abyss</u>

Jentzsch, Corinna, Stathis N. Kalyvas, and Livia Isabella Schubiger. 2015. "Militias in Civil Wars." *The Journal of conflict resolution* 59 (5): 755-769. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002715576753.

Käihkö, Ilmari. 2018. "A nation-in-the-making, in arms: control of force, strategy and the Ukrainian Volunteer Battalions." *Defence studies* 18 (2): 147-166. https://doi.org/10.1080/14702436.2018.1461013.

Kalinin, Artem. 2014. "Ляшко отказался идти под крыло Коломойского." *Vesti.UA*. Accessed June 13, 2023. <u>https://vesti.ua/strana/63937-ljashko-otkazalsja-idti-pod-krylo-kolomojskogo</u>.

Kalyvas, Stathis N. 2006. *The logic of violence in civil war*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Kasapović, Mirjana. 2000. "Electoral Politics in Croatia 1990 – 2000." *Politička misao* XXXVII (5): 3-20. <u>https://www-ceeol-com.ezproxy.is.cuni.cz/search/article-detail?id=80773</u>

Katchanovski, Ivan. 2019. "The far right, the Euromaidan, and the Maidan massacre in Ukraine." *Journal of labor and society* 23 (1): 5-36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/lands.12457</u>.

Keen, David J. 2008. Complex Emergencies. 1st ed. Polity.

Kleinfeld, Rachel. 2018. A Savage Order: How the World's Deadliest Countries Can Forge a Path to Security. Knopf Doubleday Publishing Group.

Koonings, Kees and Dirk Kruijt. 1999. Societies of Fear: The Legacy of Civil War, Violence and Terror in Latin America. Zed Books.

Kovensky, Josh. 2018. "One-time oligarch Serhiy Taruta stumbles towards presidency." *Kyiv Post*. Accessed June 10, 2023. <u>https://www.kyivpost.com/post/8194</u>.

Kushner, Harvey W. 2003. "United Self-Defense Forces of Colombia," in *Encyclopedia of Terrorism*, Vol. 1 (SAGE Reference), 384-386. https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/CX3438800299/GVRL?u=karlova&sid=bookmark-

GVRL&xid=33a70191

Kuzmenko, Oleksiy. 2018. "Ukrainian Far-Right Fighters, White Supremacists Trained by Major European Security Firm." *Bellingcat*. Accessed June 11, 2023.

https://www.bellingcat.com/news/uk-and-europe/2018/08/30/ukrainian-far-right-fighterswhite-supremacists-trained-major-european-security-firm/.

Kuzmenko, Oleksiy. 2019. "'Defend the White Race': American Extremists Being Co-Opted by Ukraine's Far-Right." *Bellingcat*. Accessed June 14, 2023. <u>https://www.bellingcat.com/news/uk-and-europe/2019/02/15/defend-the-white-race-american-extremists-being-co-opted-by-ukraines-far-right/</u>

Kyiv Post, 2019. "Avakov dismisses criticisms of Azov battalion.". Accessed 18 April, 2023. <u>https://archive.kyivpost.com/ukraine-politics/avakov-dismisses-criticisms-of-azov-battalion.html</u>

Kyiv Post. 2014. "Party leader: Right Sector to achieve holding of early parliamentary election." Accessed May 27, 2023. <u>https://archive.kyivpost.com/article/content/may-25-presidential-election/party-leader-right-sector-to-achieve-holding-of-early-parliamentary-election-349404.html</u>

Kyiv Post. 2021. "Video: Neo-Nazi from Azov agreed to cooperate with Russian law enforcement." Accessed June 15, 2023. <u>https://www.kyivpost.com/post/7145</u>

Laryš, Martin. 2022. "Far-Right vigilantes and crime: law and order providers or common criminals? The lessons from Greece, Russia, and Ukraine." *Journal of southeast European and Black Sea studies* 22 (4): 479-502. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14683857.2022.2086666</u>.

Lashchenko, Oleksandr. 2015. "Якщо на нас тиснутимуть, люди захистять «Правий сектор» – Артем Скоропадський." *Radio Svoboda*. Accessed May 14, 2023. <u>https://www.radiosvoboda.org/a/27147383.html</u>

Lekić, Slobodan. 1991. "Croatian Party Leader Accuses Government in Shooting of Deputy." *AP News*. Accessed June 8, 2023. https://apnews.com/article/62460ca13555c37b45c778ff42983c9d.

Levitsky, Steven, and Lucan A. Way. 2010. *Competitive Authoritarianism: Hybrid Regimes after the Cold War*. Problems of International Politics. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511781353</u>.

Likhachev, Vyacheslav. 2015. "The "Right Sector" and others: The behavior and role of radical nationalists in the Ukrainian political crisis of late 2013 – Early 2014." *Communist and post-communist studies* 48 (2-3): 257-271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.postcomstud.2015.07.003.

Likhachev, Vyacheslav. 2017. "Чому українці не голосують за ультраправих? Pos'яснення історика." *Hromadske Radio*. Accessed June 15, 2023. <u>https://hromadske.radio/podcasts/hromadska-hvylya/chomu-ukrayinci-ne-golosuyut-za-ultrapravyh-roz-yasnennya-istoryka</u>

Likhachev, Vyacheslav. 2019а. "Завдяки Майдану та війні ультраправі отримали публічну легітимацію." ZN. Accessed June 15, 2023. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20200701054151/https:/zn.ua/ukr/UKRAINE/v-yacheslav-lihachov-zavdyaki-maydanu-ta-viyni-ultrapravi-otrimali-publichnu-legitimaciyu-329874\_.html</u> Likhachev, Vyacheslav. 2019b. "Героїзація ультраправих не конвертується в підтримку на виборах." *PolUkr.net* Accessed June 15, 2023. <u>http://www.polukr.net/uk/blog/2019/05/intervyu-vyacheslav-</u> <u>lihachov/?fbclid=IwAR3tQsHXZ7NQFY5OZ4wc5qPywmwbGeBSi8jW9XD17jebqWgF</u> <u>LvGCoFWTyXo</u>

Likhachev, Vyacheslav. 2022a. "What is Azov Regiment? Honest answers to the most common questions." Euromaidan Press. Accessed May 22, 2023. https://euromaidanpress.com/2022/04/07/what-is-azov-regiment-honest-answers-to-the-most-common-questions/

Likhachev, Vyacheslav. 2022b. "Полк 'Азов' не є неонацистським: відповіді на найпоширеніші запитання." *Zmina.Info*. Accessed June 15, 2023. <u>https://zmina.info/columns/polk-azov-ne-ye-neonaczystskym-vidpovidi-na-najposhyrenishi-zapytannya/</u>

Lipset, Seymour Martin, and Earl Raab. 1970. *The Politics of Unreason: Right Wing Extremism in America*, 1790–1970. New York: Harper & Row.

Lobe, Jim, and Aprille Muscara. 2011. "US Banana Firm Hired Colombian Paramilitaries." *Al Jazeera* Accessed May 21, 2023. http://www.aljazeera.com/indepth/features/2011/04/20114813392621189.html

López, Claudia, and Oscar Sevillano. 2008. "Balance político de la parapolítica." *Investigadores Observatorio del Conflicto Armado*, Corporación Nuevo Arco Iris. <u>https://cronicon.net/paginas/juicioauribe/img/Balance%20de%20la%20Parapol%EDtica.pd</u> <u>f</u>

Luhn, Alex. 2014. "Ukrainian oligarch offers bounty for capture of Russian 'saboteurs'." *The Guardian*. Accessed June 10, 2023.

https://www.theguardian.com/world/2014/apr/17/ukrainian-oligarch-offers-financial-rewards-russians-igor-kolomoisky.

MacDonald, David Bruce. 2002. *Balkan Holocausts?: Serbian and Croatian Victim Centered Propaganda and the War in Yugoslavia*. Manchester University Press.

Malešević, Sinisa. 2011. "Nationalism, war and social cohesion." *Ethnic and racial studies* 34 (1): 142-161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2010.489647</u>.

Malyarenko, Tetyana, and David J. Galbreath. 2016. "Paramilitary motivation in Ukraine: beyond integration and abolition." *Journal of southeast European and Black Sea studies* 16 (1): 113-138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14683857.2016.1148414</u>.

Mapping Militant Organizations (MMO). "Azov Movement." Stanford University. Last modified August 2022. Accessed April 14, 2023. https://cisac.fsi.stanford.edu/mappingmilitants/profiles/azov-battalion.

Mariner, Joanne and Malcolm Smart. 2001. "The "Sixth Division": Military-Paramilitary Ties and U.S. Policy in Colombia". New York, NY: *Human Rights Watch*. Accessed June 26, 2023.

https://web.archive.org/web/20161213100510/https://www.hrw.org/reports/2001/colombia /6theng.pdf.

Medina Gallego, Carlos. 1990. Autodefensas, paramilitares y narcotráfico en Colombia: origen, desarrollo y consolidación : el caso "Puerto Boyacá". Bogotá, Colombia: Editorial Documentos Periodísticos.

Milekić, Sven. 2022. "A Protest, Coup d'État, or Internal Party Power Struggle". *Politička misao* 59 (4): 215-250. <u>https://doi.org/10.20901/pm.59.4.10</u>.

Milekić, Sven 2020. "Croatia's 1990s Paramilitaries: From Government Critics to Collaborators" *Balkan Insight*. Accessed June 5, 2023. https://balkaninsight.com/2020/05/06/croatians-1990s-paramilitaries-from-government-critics-to-collaborators/

Mudde, Cas. 2019. The Far Right Today. Polity.

Novaya Gazeta. 2021. "В Сети появились видеозаписи, на которых неонацисты Максим «Тесак» Марцинкевич и Сергей «Малюта» Коротких дают показания на своих соратников." Accessed June 14, 2023.

https://novayagazeta.ru/articles/2021/08/06/v-seti-poiavilis-videozapisi-na-kotorykhneonatsisty-maksim-tesak-martsinkevich-i-sergei-maliuta-korotkikh-daiut-pokazaniia-nasvoikh-soratnikov-news

OHCHR. 2016. "Report on the Human Rights Situation in Ukraine." *Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights*. Accessed June 18, 2023. http://www.ohchr.org/Documents/Countries/UA/Ukraine 14th HRMMU Report.pdf.

Oppenheim, Ben, Abbey Steele, Juan F. Vargas, and Michael Weintraub. 2015. "True Believers, Deserters, and Traitors: Who Leaves Insurgent Groups and Why." *The Journal of conflict resolution* 59 (5): 794-823. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002715576750</u>.

Ostryakova, Elena. 2018. "Ахметов финансирует украинских националистов – СМИ." *PolitNavigator*. Accessed June 11, 2023. <u>https://www.politnavigator.net/akhmetov-finansiruet-ukrainskikh-nacionalistov-smi.html</u>.

Pachico, Elyssa. 2011. "Ties Binding Crime to Politics in Colombia May Weaken." *InsightCrime*. Accessed May 19, 2023. <u>https://insightcrime.org/news/analysis/report-links-</u> between-crime-and-politics-in-colombia-may-weaken/

Pécaut, Daniel. 1997. "From the Banality of Violence to Terror: The Colombian Example." *Cultures & Conflicts*, 24-25 (1-2), 146-167. <u>https://doi.org/10.4000/conflits.2169</u>

Polšak Palatinuš, Vlatka. 2017. "Sva lica Marka Skeje: Ljubitelj NDH, uspješan biznismen, bivši porezni dužnik i ratni heroj." *Tportal.hr*. Accessed June 19, 2023. <u>https://www.tportal.hr/vijesti/clanak/sva-lica-marka-skeje-ljubitelj-ndh-uspjesan-biznismen-porezni-duznik-i-ratni-heroj-foto-20170907</u>

Porch, Douglas, and María José Rasmussen. 2008. "Demobilization of Paramilitaries in Colombia: Transformation or Transition?" *Studies in conflict and terrorism* 31 (6): 520-540. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10576100802064841</u>.

Pravyi Sektor. 2023. "Програма Національного Визволення Та Державотворення." Accessed June 1, 2023 <u>https://pravyysektor.info/programa-nacionalnogo-vyzvolennya-ta-derzhavotvorennya</u>

Puglisi, Rosaria. 2015. "Heroes or Villains?: Volunteer Battalions in Post-Maidan Ukraine." *Istituto Affari Internazionali (IAI)*. Accessed May 19, 2023. http://www.jstor.org/stable/resrep09840

Rabasa, Angel., and Peter. Chalk. 2001. *Columbian Labyrinth: The Synergy Of Drugs And Insurgency And Its Implications For Regional Stability*. Santa Monica: RAND Corporation.

Radio Svoboda. 2014. "При затриманні Музичка міліція діяла законно – висновки розслідування." Accessed June 10, 2023. <u>https://www.radiosvoboda.org/a/25317853.html</u>.

Radio Svoboda. 2015. "Заблоковані на Закарпатті бійці «Правого сектору» досі не здалися – СБУ." Accessed June 10, 2023. https://www.radiosvoboda.org/a/27123410.html.

Radonic, Ljiljana. 2013. "Croatia's Politics of the Past during the Tuđman Era (1990–1999)—Old Wine in New Bottles?". *Austrian history yearbook* 44: 234-254. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0067237813000143.

RAI News. 2022. "TV interview transcript of Rinat Akhmetov for RAI TV." Accessed June 12, 2023.

https://www.rai.it/dl/doc/2022/05/16/1652705193970 Rinat Akhmetov for RAI.pdf.

Raleigh, Clionadh, and Roudabeh Kishi. 2020. "Hired Guns: Using Pro-Government Militias for Political Competition." *Terrorism and political violence* 32 (3): 582-603. https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2017.1388793.

Ramet, Sabrina P. 2006. *The Three Yugoslavias: State-Building and Legitimation*, 1918–2005. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.

Rękawek, Kacper. 2023. Foreign fighters in Ukraine: the brown-red cocktail. London, England: Routledge

Repucci, Sarah and Amy Slipowitz. 2021. "Freedom in the World 2021: Democracy under Siege." *Freedom House*. Accessed April 10, 2023. https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-world/2021/democracy-under-siege.

Reuters. 2007. "Second governor jailed in Colombia militia probe." Accessed May 23, 2023. <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/idUSN17341870</u>.

RIA Novosti. 2014. "Источник: целью спецоперации против Белого была его нейтрализация." Accessed June 10, 2023. <u>https://ria.ru/20140325/1000966992.html</u>.

Romero, Mauricio. 2007. *Parapolítica. La ruta de la expansión paramilitar y los acuerdos políticos*. Bogota: Corporación Nuevo Arco Iris.

Rudenko, Yevhen, and Eldar Sarakhman. 2019. "Дмитро Ярош: Путін може померти в будь-який момент." *Ukrainska Pravda*. Accessed June 16, 2023. https://www.pravda.com.ua/articles/2019/01/15/7203757/

Sabor.HR. 2023. "10th term of the Croatian Parliament (22 July 2020) - Ante Prkačin (NZ)." Accessed June 19, 2023. <u>https://www.sabor.hr/en/members-parliament/prkacin-ante-10-term</u>

Schultze-Kraft, Markus. 2018. "Making peace in seas of crime: crimilegal order and armed conflict termination in Colombia." *Crime, law, and social change* 69 (4): 475-496. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10611-017-9759-2.

Sharkov, Damien. 2014. "Ukrainian Nationalist Volunteers Committing 'ISIS-Style' War Crimes." *Newsweek*. Accessed June 10, 2023. <u>https://www.newsweek.com/evidence-war-crimes-committed-ukrainian-nationalist-volunteers-grows-269604</u>.

Shaw, Daniel Odin, and Huseyn Aliyev. 2021. "The Frontlines Have Shifted: Explaining the Persistence of Pro-State Militias after Civil War." *Studies in conflict and terrorism* (ahead-of-print): 1-21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2021.2009633</u>.

Shekhovtsov, Anton, and Andreas Umland. 2014. "Ukraine's radical right." *Journal of democracy* 25 (3): 58-63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/jod.2014.0051</u>.

Shekhovtsov, Anton. 2014. "Look far right, and look right again." *openDemocracy*. Accessed May 20, 2023. <u>https://www.opendemocracy.net/en/odr/look-far-right-and-look-right-again-avaz-batalion-neo-pagan-neo-nazi/</u>

Shekhovtsov, Anton. 2022. "How the West enabled genocide in Mariupol with its misguided Azov obsession." *Euromaidan Press*. Accessed June 2, 2023. <u>https://euromaidanpress.com/2022/04/02/how-the-west-enabled-genocide-in-mariupol-with-its-misguided-azov-</u>

obsession/?fbclid=%20IwAR0GCn73fjsgXBn2ybJBCzq3Wvv42Md4qStPPonpg-hnvh-6uFsJyIPQoGQ

Sherman, John W. 2015. "Political Violence in Colombia: Dirty Wars Since 1977." *History compass* 13 (9): 454-465. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/hic3.12258</u>.

Shrader, Charles R. 2003. *The Muslim-Croat Civil War in Central Bosnia: A Military History, 1992-1994*. Texas A&M University Press.

Sinowitz, Ron. 2020. "В Україні закривають очі на те, як світ бачить ультраправий рух в країні?" *Radio Svoboda*. Accessed June 15, 2023. <u>https://www.radiosvoboda.org/a/ultrapravi-ukraina-svit-rosiya-propaganda/31028376.html</u>

Soucy, Robert. 2023. "Neofascism." In *Encyclopedia Britannica*. Accessed May 9, 2023. <u>https://www.britannica.com/topic/neofascism</u>.

Staniland, Paul. 2012. "Between a Rock and a Hard Place: Insurgent Fratricide, Ethnic Defection, and the Rise of Pro-State Paramilitaries." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 56 (1): 16-40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002711429681</u>.

Staniland, Paul. 2015. "Militias, Ideology, and the State." *The Journal of conflict resolution* 59 (5): 770-793. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002715576749.

Stanton, Jessica A. 2015. "Regulating Militias: Governments, Militias, and Civilian Targeting in Civil War." *The Journal of conflict resolution* 59 (5): 899-923. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022002715576751.

Tate, Winifred. 2018. "Paramilitary politics and corruption talk in Colombia." *Culture, theory and critique* 59 (4): 419-441. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14735784.2018.1522596</u>.

Taylor, Steven L. 2009. *Voting Amid Violence: Electoral Democracy in Colombia*. Northeastern University Press.

Taylor, Steven L. 2016. "The State of Democracy in Colombia: More Voting, Less Violence?" *The Latin Americanist (Orlando, Fla.)* 60 (2): 169-190. https://doi.org/10.1111/tla.12082.

Thomson, Andrew, and Dale Pankhurst. 2022. "From Control to Conflict: A Spectrum and Framework for Understanding Government-Militia Relationships." *Studies in conflict and terrorism* ahead-of-print (ahead-of-print): 1-22. https://doi.org/10.1080/1057610X.2022.2116972.

UCDP. 2023. "Colombia: One-Sided Violence, AUC-Civilians, 1997–2005." *Uppsala Conflict Data Program Conflict Encyclopedia*. Accessed June 26, 2023. <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20130606082744/http://www.ucdp.uu.se/gpdatabase/gpcountr</u> <u>y.php?id=35&regionSelect=5-Southern\_Americas</u>.

Ukrainska Pravda. 2014. "Аваков: Порошенко не розпускав батальйони.". Accessed April 15, 2023. <u>https://www.pravda.com.ua/news/2014/11/11/7043879/</u>

Ukrainska Pravda. 2016. "Дмитро Ярош: Я ніколи не був радикалом." Accessed May 18, 2023. <u>https://www.pravda.com.ua/articles/2016/11/7/7125992/</u>

Ukrainska Pravda. 2019. "Ярош: Ахметова не видел, с Пинчуком встречался, Коломойскому благодарен." Accessed June 15, 2023. https://www.pravda.com.ua/rus/news/2019/01/15/7203806/

UKRinform. 2019. "CEC counts 100 percent of vote in Ukraine's parliamentary elections." Accessed May 20, 2023. <u>https://www.ukrinform.net/rubric-elections/2748306-cec-counts-100-percent-of-vote-in-ukraines-parliamentary-elections.html</u>.

Umland, Andreas. 2019. "Irregular Militias and Radical Nationalism in Post-Euromaydan Ukraine: The Prehistory and Emergence of the "Azov" Battalion in 2014." *Terrorism and political violence* 31 (1): 105-131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09546553.2018.1555974</u>.

Umland, Andreas. 2020. "The Far Right In Pre and Post-Euromaidan Ukraine: From Ultra-Nationalist Party Politics To Ethno-Centric Uncivil Society." *Demokratizatsiya (Washington, D.C.)* 28 (2): 247-268.

https://web.s.ebscohost.com/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=0&sid=2da00c59-81d4-489db2f2-402f55a6b4cb%40redis Unian, 2016. "Azov regiment announces creation of own party." Accessed April 15, 2023. https://www.unian.info/politics/1526119-azov-regiment-announces-creation-of-ownparty.html

US GOV. 2007. "Country Reports on Terrorism. Chapter 6 -- Terrorist Organizations." Accessed June 26, 2023. <u>https://2001-2009.state.gov/s/ct/rls/crt/2006/82738.htm</u>.

US GOV. 1993. "Campaign of Political Repression Continues Against Croatian Parliament Opposition Leader, Dobroslav Paraga" Accessed June 5, 2023. <u>https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/GPO-CRECB-1993-pt12/pdf/GPO-CRECB-1993-pt12-4-3.pdf</u>

Veselinović, Velimir. 2014. "Obnavljanje i djelovanje Hrvatske stranke prava, 1990-1992." *Politička misao* LI (2): 55-87. <u>https://web-s-ebscohost-</u> com.ezproxy.is.cuni.cz/ehost/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=0&sid=a0480268-98ec-4b37-889b-066179bc9703%40redis

Vinci, Anthony. 2008. Armed Groups and the Balance of Power: The International Relations of Terrorists, Warlords and Insurgents. 1st ed. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203889824.

Vulliamy, Ed. 1994. Seasons in hell: understanding Bosnia's war. New York: St. Martin's Press.

Weinstein, Jeremy M. 2007. *Inside rebellion: the politics of insurgent violence*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Wilson, Scott. 2001. "Interview with Carlos Castaño, Head of the United Self-Defense Forces of Colombia." *Washington Post*. Accessed May 3, 2023 https://www.latinamericanstudies.org/colombia/Castaño-interview.htm.

Wood, Garrett Ryan. 2022. "The organization of volunteer battalions in Ukraine." *Constitutional political economy* 33 (2): 115-134. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10602-021-09342-w.

Yarosh, Dmytro and Andriy Stempitskyy. 2014. "Letter to the President of Ukraine from the Right Sector military-political movement." *Euromaidan Press*. Accessed May 22, 2023. <u>https://euromaidanpress.com/2014/08/17/letter-to-the-president-of-ukraine-from-the-right-sector-military-political-movement/</u>

Young, Cathy. 2022. "Heroes of Mariupol or Neo-Nazi Menace? The messy history of Ukraine's Azov Regiment." *The Bulwark*. Accessed June 10, 2023. https://www.thebulwark.com/heroes-of-mariupol-or-neo-nazi-menace/.

Zabyelina, Yuliya. 2019. "Vigilante justice and informal policing in post-Euromaidan Ukraine." *Post-Soviet affairs* 35 (4): 277-292. https://doi.org/10.1080/1060586X.2019.1601460.